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Praise for EL CHAPO



“Hurowitz fleshes out the harrowing details of Mexico’s drug violence and high-level corruption, and draws on interviews with former cartel insiders to document El Chapo’s staggering ambitions and deep-seated paranoia…. [The author’s] access to players on both sides of the drug war impresses.”

—Publishers Weekly

“A fast-paced study of the infamous, now-imprisoned Mexican drug lord and the social structures that supported and enabled his rise…. Readers won’t look at the war on drugs the same way after reading Hurowitz’s damning account.”

—Kirkus Reviews

“[A] much-needed revisit of the Chapo story… Fast-paced, at times edgy… Hurowitz manages to capture the history of the drug war in Mexico well.”

—Small Wars Journal

“El Chapo is the best book you’re going to read on the rise and fall of the twenty-first century’s most notorious narco. It’s a fast-paced journey through the landscape and history of the bloody war on drugs in Mexico. The war on drugs may have failed for most of us, but as Hurowitz points out, it’s working out very nicely for those who profit from it, including the narcos themselves who make their fortunes in the black market. Pick up this book and get smarter on the drugs business.”

—Toby Muse, Kilo: Inside the Deadliest Cocaine Cartels—from the Jungles to the Streets

“Remarkably engaging… Truly the definitive account of the life of Joaquín Guzmán, El Chapo. Yet it is about so much more than just the world’s most infamous drug trafficker. Through the story of El Chapo, Hurowitz reveals in compelling fashion the calculated and violent absurdity that is the so-called War on Drugs—a war that has proven more effective in killing, terrorizing, and repressing poor people across the globe than stopping the flow of illicit drugs. This impressively researched book is essential reading.”

—Alexander Aviña, author of Specters of Revolution: Peasant Guerrillas in the Cold War Mexican Countryside

“El Chapo buries the sensationalism and strips the myths from Mexico’s most famous drug lord. Instead Hurowitz gives us a complex, but no less rollicking, portrait of a man caught between America’s never-ending demand for narcotics, its persistent need for a scapegoat, and a Mexican state always happy to dish one up. El Chapo is true crime biography done right.”

—Benjamin T. Smith, author of The Dope: The Real History of the Mexican Drug Trade

“Hurowitz did what few American journalists or writers do: he went to Mexico to capture the background of the events that describe and explain the failure of the American war on drugs and the rise of criminals like Chapo Guzmán. El Chapo is a great book, easy to digest for readers and a fabulous explanation with a healthy narrative of the cruel reality on both sides of the Río Bravo about narcotrafficking, corruption, and political blindness.”

—J. Jesús Esquivel, Washington, DC, correspondent for Proceso magazine and author of El Juicio: Crónica de la caída del Chapo

“A rare achievement: a page-turning, true crime narrative with a deep and well-researched analysis. Hurowitz details the rise to power of Joaquín ‘El Chapo’ Guzmán, but never takes his eye off the structures of power that facilitated it, within both the Mexican government and the global economy.”

—Christy Thornton, assistant professor of sociology and Latin American studies at Johns Hopkins University and author of Revolution in Development: Mexico and the Governance of the Global Economy
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This book is dedicated to all victims and survivors of the war on drugs, in the hope that they may find peace and justice.






INTRODUCTION

THE SIERRA MADRE Occidental range sweeps down from the Rocky Mountains, across the Arizona border, and south through the states of Sonora, Chihuahua, Sinaloa, and Durango, forming the spine of northwestern Mexico. Little is known of the first inhabitants of the mountains, but thanks to archeological clues left behind in the form of pottery and subterranean pit houses, we can pick up the trail around 300 CE of scattered communities that grew into a society calling itself the Rarámuri, “those with light feet,” or “foot runners.” The Rarámuri, now known as Tarahumara, the Spanish corruption of their name, originally settled the plains to the east of the Sierra Madre, where they developed a culture of ritual endurance races, twenty-four-hour ultra-marathons run barefoot or in huarache sandals, a tradition that persists to this day. As Spanish missionaries first began arriving in the mountains in the 1500s, bringing with them misery and death in the form of smallpox and imperial cruelty, the Tarahumara rose up in successive revolts, moving deeper and deeper into the Sierra and bestowing upon the area a reputation as an untamable wilderness. But it wasn’t enough to keep outsiders from coming in. Home to rich veins of silver, gold, copper, and other precious minerals, the mountains drew prospectors and mining companies for centuries, and many of the current inhabitants of the Sierra Madre can trace their presence in Sinaloa to ancestors who arrived as miners and never left. Now many of them make a living from the figurative gold mines of marijuana and opium. It is this, not mining, that has earned this region spanning portions of the states of Sinaloa, Chihuahua, and Durango a new name: the Golden Triangle.

The steep peaks and deep valleys were carved over millennia by rivers, which flow west to the ocean, tumbling down in torrents during the rainy season and in trickles—if at all—during the dry season. These waters irrigate the fertile lowland plains of Sinaloa, a long and narrow state against whose northern shores lap the waves of the Gulf of California, and whose southern beaches look out on the vast expanse of the Pacific. About an hour inland, the state capital of Culiacán sits nestled at the foot of the Sierra Madre mountains, which form a striking backdrop on the horizon.

Long a provincial backwater, Culiacán began to see a steady influx of people and money beginning in the 1940s, first as newly built dams made large-scale agriculture possible, and later as a few native Sinaloans began to take their talent for illegal import and export to a global scale. Culiacán now boasts a population of nearly a million people. The city is a magnet for people fleeing the countryside, and at its margins many of these newcomers live in ramshackle huts and often make a living picking through trash heaps. As you get closer to the center, dirt side streets and overgrown vegetation give way to a modern sprawl of glittering shopping malls, luxury sports cars, and late-model pickup trucks racing down broad thoroughfares, before turning into prim middle- and upper-class neighborhoods of two- and three-story homes, all signs of a place where people know how to spend money.

Culiacán is home to a professional baseball team, the Tomateros (named for one of Sinaloa’s most important legal cash crops), and a sprawling botanical garden, nearly twenty-five acres of architecturally designed walkways and palm groves resplendent with thousands of plant species; at the heart of the gardens sits one of artist James Turrell’s gorgeous “skyspace” sculptures, with an interior that changes color as the angle of the sun changes. At sunset, it glows an incandescent pink.

The city is vivisected by three rivers, the Humaya, the Tamazula, and the Culiacán, which meet just west of the downtown, allowing for a verdant malecón, or waterfront boardwalk, where families stroll in the shade and street musicians set up shop. At the center of it all stands a blindingly white, neoclassical cathedral overlooking the main plaza, a shady green oasis named for the revolutionary hero Álvaro Obregón that serves as a focal point for the town’s street life. On the weekends, it is common to find live bands playing in the plaza’s gazebo, while elderly couples dance in pairs.

About a kilometer away from downtown, perched on a wall of green glass tiles atop a long, low-slung shack with a corrugated metal roof, and wedged between a rail yard and a busy thruway, the mustachioed face of the bandit-saint Jesús Malverde scowls down on the traffic funneling in and out of the city. Devotees come here to pay their respects and leave a small offering at the shrine in the hopes that the spirit of Malverde will bring them good fortune in business, rain in a drought, the safe return of lost or stolen property, or safe passage to the United States. Merchants peddle trinkets, votive candles, and rosaries with Malverde’s image, a sign of the fusion of Catholic faith and reverence for the legendary thief who has gained a semi-sacred status as a protector of the poor and, most infamously, as the patron saint of drug traffickers.

The story goes that Jesús Malverde entered the world as Jesús Juárez Mazo around 1870, when Sinaloa and the rest of Mexico were under the thumb of the dictator José de la Cruz Porfirio Díaz Mori. Born to a peasant family, Mazo grew up in poverty so severe that his parents starved to death. He swore revenge on the elite and took to the hills for a life dedicated to robbing rich landowners and passing out the loot to poor highlanders throughout the Sierra Madre. Among his wealthy victims, the acts of banditry earned him the nickname Malverde, meaning evil-green, supposedly due to an association between misfortune and the color green. But among the impoverished residents of the Sinaloa highlands, he gained a reputation as a Robin Hood figure at a time in which local and foreign investors were gobbling up low-lying, communal agricultural land to meet U.S. demand for sugarcane and other cash crops, while subsistence farmers in the mountains were losing land to wealthy ranchers.

Malverde is said to have met his end in 1909, at the hands of a gang of enforcers in the employ of the local strongman, after a traitorous friend tipped them off to his hideout. The killers promptly executed Malverde and hung his body from a tree as a warning to any other would-be rebellious peasants; but by extinguishing the threat, Malverde’s killers created a martyr. His sympathizers are said to have given him a proper burial, and covered the grave with stones. Over time, the grave marker grew into a cairn that grew taller and taller as more and more peasants—or campesinos, as they’re known in Spanish—arrived to drop a token of thanks, a blessing on his name that they hoped would give Malverde a reason to look kindly on them and bring them good fortune. There’s scant documentation of Malverde’s life, and historians believe his myth grew out of the combined exploits of two real-life bandits, but the legend of a single saintly highwayman persists. His alleged powers have kept pace with technology, too: on one of my visits to the shrine, a local man helpfully informed a visiting TV crew that their footage would come out black-and-white unless they made a donation to the saint.

Believers hold an annual feast at the shrine on May 3, the supposed date of Malverde’s execution, and a cult of devotion has sprung up around it. The walls of the little chapel are bedecked with placards paid for by families and individuals from Culiacán, other towns in Sinaloa and nearby states, and those from afar, including placards from North Hollywood, California, Las Vegas, Nevada, and beyond. Many of them are emblazoned with favors and thanks—blessings for an easy road ahead, gratitude for a son’s release from prison. Dollars from the United States and Canada, peso notes, even a few bills from China and Japan paper the walls, with messages scrawled on them in Spanish, English, and at least one in Arabic.

At the shrine, which was erected in the 1970s, another visage has begun to appear in recent years: the defiant, mustachioed face of Sinaloa’s most famous native son, Joaquín Archivaldo Guzmán Loera, better known as El Chapo. To the extent that people outside Mexico are familiar with Malverde, it’s often because of El Chapo and other drug traffickers like him.

Outside, mixed among the Malverde merch, are items that nod to this connecton. On one visit, I found a small statue of El Chapo—holding an assault rifle, his chin jutting up defiantly beneath his trademark baseball cap—standing on a table out front. Hanging from a rack and available for sale were several hats emblazoned with “CDS” (Cártel de Sinaloa), or “Private Pilot,” or “701”—the rank given to El Chapo by Forbes magazine in 2009 when the magazine included him on its list of billionaires. The number has become a shorthand for El Chapo, and can be seen on T-shirts, hats, and in graffiti scrawled on walls all around Culiacán.

The proliferation of merch bearing El Chapo’s name and image—and its place of honor at the shrine of the bandit-saint—illustrates this particular drug lord’s status in the popular imagination. El Chapo Guzmán is a flesh-and-blood human, unlike the semi-mythical Jesús Malverde, but the legend of El Chapo can appear just as fantastical. With his image as a local boy who hit it big while thumbing his nose at the gringos—an image bolstered by a media eager to simplify the sprawling, unruly, and complex tale of drug trafficking, corruption, violence, and misery into a one-man show—El Chapo has reached mythic proportions not unlike the fabled underdog Malverde. As the placards and foreign currency make clear, both the legend of Malverde and his devotees have spread far and wide. Jesús Malverde candles and statues have made their way north, appearing at alternative-medicine boticas in Latino neighborhoods in the United States, and retailing on Amazon for $27.96. He even showed up at El Chapo’s trial in Brooklyn federal court, where reporters spotted a six-inch statue of Malverde on the defense team’s table.

“It miraculously appeared,” one of El Chapo’s lawyers quipped to a tabloid reporter at the time.

On my first visit to the shrine in April 2019, a young boy noticed my interest in the El Chapo merch on sale, and walked over to strike up a conversation.

“That’s El Señor,” he explained helpfully, as if I or anyone else could somehow be here and not know. “Chapo Guzmán.”

When I told the kid that I had recently spent three months sitting in a courtroom just a few feet away from this fabled native of Sinaloa, his eyes went wide.

“How is he?” he asked, with a genuine concern that I heard frequently from residents of Culiacán and Sinaloa when discussing the trial of El Señor. I told the boy that El Chapo appeared alert and had followed the proceedings closely; I feigned a note of regret when I reported that El Chapo would likely spend the rest of his life in prison.

On another visit to the Malverde shrine, I found a two-man band playing for a small audience. A family sat watching on a bench several feet away, a little girl fanning her baby brother in the sweltering humidity that cloaked the city like a blanket. After pausing to wipe their sweaty faces, the two men, armed with an accordion, a guitar, and a small portable amp, struck up a tune, the rhythmic wheezing of the accordion keeping time as the guitarist banged out the melody.


Joaquín lo era lo es y será

prófugo de la justicia

el señor de la montaña

también jefe en la ciudad

“Joaquín was what he is and will be

A fugitive from justice

The lord of the mountain

And a boss in the city”



They were singing narcocorridos, songs recounting the exploits of notable figures in the drug trade. Narcocorridos often get a bad rap. Like the culture warriors in the United States who blame poverty and marginalization on hip-hop lyrics rather than addressing the structural issues that are the root of the problem, some commentators in Mexico have lambasted narcocorridos for glamorizing so-called narco culture. At first glance, it’s easy to find it distasteful how the songs turn the abject violence of the drug war into the stuff of legend and the actions of bloodstained criminals into tales of heroism. But they’re also a vital form of storytelling, and in a country where members of the press—those who haven’t been killed or intimidated and forced out of business—are viewed with suspicion, narcocorridos are often seen as more honest chroniclers of the drug trade.

Baldomar Cáceres, a Culiacán-based singer born in Badiraguato, the rural municipality from which El Chapo hails, can belt out an a cappella ballad about nearly any narco you name, telling stories of their lives, notorious moments in their careers, and sometimes of their deaths. On my first day in Culiacán, Baldomar accompanied me on a drive around town, including a walk along an industrial canal to check out a drainage tunnel that El Chapo once used to escape a raid by Mexican Marines and the Drug Enforcement Administration (DEA). Standing at the mouth of the tunnel, Baldomar spontaneously burst into song.


Un túnel de alto criterio

Como kilómetro y medio

Por bajo de la tierra

Construcción sofisticada

Gracias ingenieros

“A tunnel of highest quality

About a kilometer and a half

Underneath the earth

Sophisticated construction

Thanks to the engineers”



The image of drug trafficking as a form of social banditry in the tradition of Jesús Malverde fits nicely with the rugged self-sufficiency of the inhabitants of the Sinaloa highlands, who eke out a hardscrabble life with little help from the state. Many local boys, El Chapo among them, have certainly distributed portions of their illegal largesse after hitting it big, helping to fund roads, electricity, and water pipes in their hometowns and earning a reputation as swaggering Robin Hoods—or Malverdes. Countless people I spoke with in Culiacán had stories, all virtually impossible to verify, of being at this wedding or that quinceañera at which El Chapo showed up to buy a round of drinks or hand out cash. El Chapo may have done that, but it’s not hard to guess the real reasons a guy like El Chapo, with product to move, might want to buy local support, or build roads through remote mountains. And this narrative—the hard men taking on the government and giving back to their communities—obscures the real networks of power here.

Origin stories of the drug trade in Sinaloa often highlight the region’s legacy of upheaval, banditry, and rebellion. But unlike the doomed bandit Malverde, early drug-trafficking clans of Sinaloa were hardly treated as outlaws. The Mexican sociologist Luís Astorga writes that early Mexican drug traffickers emerged from within the state power structure, rather than as actors outside of it. They came along at a time when that power structure itself was just taking shape, and managed to negotiate for themselves a cozy little cubby within it, one that worked for the state, for the wealthy elite, and for the drug traffickers and cultivators. To a more limited extent, it also worked well for the poor peasants living in areas like Sinaloa. There is a proud tradition of independence and autonomy in the Sierra, and the cultivation and trafficking of drugs allowed the people of the Golden Triangle to continue to fend mostly for themselves without posing a true threat to the core legitimacy of the government. The drug traffickers who came before El Chapo acted as local power brokers, playing a key role as unofficial intermediaries between the government and the people of the Sierra. The government allowed them to get rich trafficking drugs as long as the traffickers kept a relative peace in rural areas and made sure the local peasants showed up to vote for the ruling Institutional Revolutionary Party, or PRI.

These traffickers and the men like El Chapo who followed in their footsteps served for decades as pillars of support in the complex patronage system that kept Mexico a de facto one-party state for most of the twentieth century. When violence did arise, it typically came down not on the major traffickers who held power in drug-producing regions but rather on the heads of peasants. Sometimes that was because local authorities or their backers in Mexico City had decided that this town or that communal land project, or ejido, had become too troublesome. Later it came in the form of anti-drug raids pursued in an effort to appease the United States as Washington put the screws to the PRI to attack marijuana and opium production at the source. The system they maintained was orderly, if not entirely peaceful.

Things have changed in the past two decades. The violence of the contemporary drug trade in Mexico is bloodier, more indiscriminate, and more depraved than anything the early drug smugglers of Sinaloa could have imagined. The breakdown began in the 1990s, as the PRI lost its grip on power, and conflict among traffickers increased as the lines of communication with the state grew blurrier. But most scholars of this period date the true starting point to 2006, when then-president Felipe Calderón declared war on the so-called cartels, and sent the military into supposed “cartel strongholds” across the country. To write that this effort has failed is so obvious as to insult the intelligence of the reader, and does not do justice to the scale of the brutality, or to the depth to which it has traumatized Mexican society. In the decade and a half since the current drug war began in Mexico, hundreds of thousands of people have been murdered; tens of thousands more have been forcibly disappeared. Many areas of the country have become unrecognizable as people flee their homes and violence becomes commonplace.

At the heart of the violence and instability is a perpetual crisis of impunity and a core failure of the nation’s criminal investigations and judicial system: nationwide, in 2018, 90 percent of homicides went unsolved; in the state of Guerrero, that figure stood at 98 percent. In the same year, an arrest was made in just 11.5 percent of criminal cases—and this typically when a suspect was caught in flagrante at the scene of the crime. Less than 4 percent of crimes resulted in some kind of judicial resolution, and less than 1 percent of those were from an actual trial.

In a system where killers, extortionists, and kidnappers are overwhelmingly able to commit crimes with little fear, in which the vanishingly small number of resolutions take place without any kind of transparency, civilians have a fundamental distrust of the authorities. As a result, the overwhelming majority of crimes are never reported.

The United States is inextricably involved in this violence in nearly every way: As the world’s largest consumer of illicit drugs, it is North Americans’ demand that drives the market and pours billions of dollars each year into the pockets of traffickers; for virtually the entire history of the prohibition of illicit drugs, Washington has directly pressured Mexican governments to comply with its anti-drug policies, violating Mexican sovereignty and denying its people the right to form their own policies; and the United States has provided direct operational support to the war on drugs in Mexico. By selling arms through official channels to security forces and allowing the traffic of illegal weapons to armed groups, the United States has effectively been providing cash and guns to all sides of the conflict, ensuring that confrontations grow ever more violent and deadly. This economy of death ramped up with particular ferocity in the first two decades of the twenty-first century: between 2008 and 2019, under an accord known as the Mérida Initiative, the United States provided more than $3 billion in anti-drug aid; during the same period, direct commercial arms sales to Mexico stood at $1.5 billion; sales of military hardware to Mexico for those years totaled more than half a billion dollars; ongoing human rights abuses committed by Mexican security forces, which began to accelerate dramatically in 2006, never proved an impediment to direct U.S. assistance.

Scary words have been thrown around like “insurgency,” or “failed state.” But drug traffickers like El Chapo have never sought the power of government, aside from making sure they have contacts in the government who can protect their business interests. Unlike the legendary Jesús Malverde, or left-wing guerrillas in the latter half of the twentieth century, drug traffickers in Mexico have never truly challenged the legitimacy of the state; on the contrary, they have often worked with security forces to suppress such uprisings, and there has long been a revolving door between trafficking networks and police agencies, particularly those agencies tasked with crushing political dissent—and those tasked with fighting the drug trade itself, which naturally brings them into contact with drug traffickers.

El Chapo may enjoy widespread support back home in Sinaloa, but he bears little resemblance to Jesús Malverde.



I first began writing about El Chapo in the fall of 2018, when I was assigned to cover his trial for Rolling Stone. When I think back now to my life before El Chapo, it gets a bit fuzzy trying to separate the bits and pieces I knew back then from what I have learned since. I likely knew more than the average American, having spent some time living in Latin America and picking up enough Spanish from a few stints living in Peru to read Spanish-language newspapers and take deep, autodidactic dives researching niche subjects like organized crime, drug lore, and fringe revolutionary movements. I knew who he was when he escaped for the second time from a Mexican prison in 2015, and I had some ambient sense of the terrifying violence that had consumed Mexico over the past two decades, and thanks to an interest in Mexican social movements, I had a baseline understanding of the political system in Mexico. But I was no expert. When I got the gig with Rolling Stone after applying for a different job there—they weren’t hiring just yet, they said, but I spoke Spanish, and I had experience covering courts, they said; did I want to cover the El Chapo trial?—I embarked on a frantic mission to learn everything I could about the guy who, as it turns out, I didn’t know a whole lot about. I say that to say this: in my initial breakneck catch-up sessions, and in the deeper research I’ve done since, I am entirely indebted to the work of Mexican journalists who have risked everything to write about drug traffickers and the state forces who enable them.

The trial began in early November 2018, and after a day or so I realized it was going to be a day-in, day-out affair. For three months, I sat in court each day, as El Chapo’s former friends, associates, employees, and one tearful ex-lover recounted in painstaking detail his thirty-year career in drug smuggling.

We heard from Miguel Ángel Martínez Martínez, a former pilot and longtime partner of El Chapo who had survived repeated attempts on his life while in prison—assassination attempts he blamed on El Chapo—and then done his time in the United States, cooperated extensively, and been rewarded with an early release date. He was in witness protection by the time he testified in Brooklyn, and in order to protect him from retaliation the judge barred courtroom sketch artists from depicting his likeness. Martínez was a former cocaine addict who at the height of his game had been hoovering up as much as four grams of uncut coke a day, a fact that the defense tried to use to discredit his testimony. In a memorable moment, one of El Chapo’s lawyers held up sugar packet to give jurors an idea of exactly how much cocaine that is. It’s a lot.

One of the most revealing moments of the trial occurred during the testimony of Martínez, although it received little notice at the time. The topic of discussion was El Chapo’s famous tunnel, the one he dug under the border between Agua Prieta, Sonora, and Douglas, Arizona, in 1990. Why, the prosecutor asked, had El Chapo chosen Agua Prieta?

It was simple, really:

“It was the city that the police had assigned to Mr. Guzmán in exchange for money so that he could work there with the drugs,” Martínez replied, casually corroborating the long-held assertion that it was the state that controlled the drug trade in those days, rather than the traffickers themselves.

We heard from Jesús Reynaldo Zambada García, the brother of El Chapo’s closest partner, Ismael Zambada, aka El Mayo. Zambada walked jurors through notable events in his former associate’s life, including his 2001 escape from prison. We also heard from Dámaso López, the former prison administrator who’d made El Chapo’s life behind bars as comfortable as possible, and later went to work for El Chapo after his escape.

The assortment of former business associates included Jorge and Alex Cifuentes Villa, a pair of Colombian brothers who’d shipped cocaine to El Chapo and worked closely with him in Mexico. The two Cifuentes brothers made particularly fascinating witnesses, in part because of the apparent glee they took in sparring with El Chapo’s attorneys, who did their best to draw the jury’s attention to the brothers’ villainous backstories.

In one memorable exchange, defense attorney Jeffrey Lichtman highlighted countless examples in which Alex Cifuentes had admitted to lying to friends, family, colleagues, police, and prosecutors, pretty much everyone he had ever come into contact with.


	
LICHTMAN: And part of being a drug dealer, as we’ve seen today, is being a good liar, correct?

	
CIFUENTES: Yes, sir.

	
LICHTMAN: You lied all the time, didn’t you?

	
CIFUENTES: Yes, sir.

	
LICHTMAN: You lied to other drug dealers?

	
CIFUENTES: Yes, sir.

	
LICHTMAN: You lied to your co-conspirators, correct?

	
CIFUENTES: Yes, sir.

	
LICHTMAN: You lied to your friends?

	
CIFUENTES: Yes, sir.

	
LICHTMAN: You lied to law enforcement.

	
CIFUENTES: Yes, sir.

	
LICHTMAN: You lied to immigration officials.

	
CIFUENTES: Yes, sir.

	
LICHTMAN: You lied to prosecutors.

	
CIFUENTES: Yes, sir.

	
LICHTMAN: You lied to lawyers.

	
CIFUENTES: Yes, sir.

	
LICHTMAN: You lied to your family.

	
CIFUENTES: Yes, sir.

	
LICHTMAN: You lied to your siblings.

	
CIFUENTES: Yes, sir.

	
LICHTMAN: You lied to your wife.

	
CIFUENTES: Yes, sir.

	
LICHTMAN: Your girlfriends.

	
CIFUENTES: Yes, sir.

	
LICHTMAN: And you didn’t just lie about your drug dealing business, you lied about personal affairs as well; isn’t that true?

	
CIFUENTES: Yes, sir.



Why, then, Lichtman was implying, should jurors believe him now? At times, the repetition became almost hypnotic, ping-ponging back and forth until finally Lichtman drove home his point and the jurors and members of the public snapped out of it to see where he had been aiming for all along.


	
LICHTMAN: You lied about Mr. Guzmán, didn’t you?

	
CIFUENTES: No, sir.

	
LICHTMAN: He’s the only person you didn’t lie about?

	
CIFUENTES: That’s right, sir.



In the first days of 2019, another Zambada arrived in court: Vicente “Vicentillo” Zambada Niebla, the eldest son and onetime heir apparent of El Mayo. Vicentillo is a handsome man with arrogant eyes and a majestic chin, and he held a commanding presence as he stared out at the courtroom. In calm detail he spoke of his life growing up at the center of his father’s organized-crime empire, teenage jaunts to sit-downs with some of Mexico’s most fearsome criminals, and contacts with some of its most powerful security officials. What he didn’t talk about—or rather was not allowed to talk about—was the fact that he himself, as well as El Chapo, had met with DEA officials in order to drop a dime on rivals.

All electronic devices were barred in the courtroom, so reporters had to write notes by hand, something, which I admit is a tough job for my millennial fingers, accustomed as they are to tapping out notes on my phone. The task of scribbling as much you could, as verbatim as possible, for nearly eight hours every day, was exhausting. At times we would take turns going to the media room and swapping notes later, but it was a risky gambit to miss even a minute of the testimony. On some days, a witness would drone on for hours about boring minutiae, only for the prosecution or the defense team to pivot to an earth-shatteringly newsworthy subject with no notice whatsoever.

On the afternoon of January 15, I had ducked out of the overflow room and headed downstairs to the media room to call a source. As I was chatting with the guy, a retired DEA agent, I heard in the hallway a sudden staccato pitter-patter, and then a stampede as reporters—particularly the Mexican reporters—charged into the room and began frantically calling their editors. Upstairs, under questioning from Lichtman, Alex Cifuentes had moments ago accused former President Enrique Peña Nieto of soliciting a bribe of more than $100 million dollars from El Chapo. Now, at the midafternoon break, my colleagues and I had less than twenty minutes to phone in the basic details to their editors and dash off a couple tweets before heading back to the courtroom.

“I’m gonna have to call you back,” I told the retired DEA agent, hanging up and tossing my phone aside as I swung around wildly to try to figure out what might have just emerged.

By the time we headed upstairs to hear more, “El Chapo” and “Enrique Peña Nieto” were trending on Twitter as the bombshell allegation ricocheted around the web. Upstairs, Lichtman dove back into questions about the alleged bribe, while a supremely uncooperative Alex did his best to stonewall and deflect. The dynamic between the two was a result of the curious dance between witness and prosecutor, and witness and defense attorney: while Alex and other witnesses had freely admitted to every misdeed under the sun when asked by the prosecutors who had called them to the stand, they were less forthcoming when the questions came from the defense team, particularly when it was an issue that prosecutors had not brought up at all. Alex had originally made the Peña Nieto bribery allegation during proffer sessions, marathon sittings at which he agreed to tell U.S. investigators everything he knew, absolutely everything, as a condition of his guilty plea.

Slowly, haltingly, Lichtman pried the information out of Alex, who in a 2016 proffer session had told investigators that Peña Nieto had reached out to Chapo in 2012 during his presidential bid, pledging that if he were elected he would call off the manhunt and allow Chapo to live and work in peace; all Chapo had to do was “donate” $250 million to Peña Nieto’s campaign coffers. Chapo, never one to say yes without some negotiating, responded with a counteroffer: $100 million in cash. According to Alex, Chapo sent the money through an intermediary nicknamed Comadre (Godmother) Maria, who delivered the cash-stuffed suitcases on the private jet of a prominent political consultant working for Peña Nieto’s campaign. (Peña Nieto has forcefully and repeatedly denied the accusations, and no corroborating evidence has been found to support Alex’s explosive claim.)

At the center of everything, always, was El Chapo. At the beginning of the trial he seemed almost bored at times, but as it wore on he began to engage more: sitting there at the defense table, leaning over to listen to his translator, or discussing something with his lawyers, or staring intently at a witness, or scanning the faces of the reporters and tourists and lawyers sitting in the gallery. His beady little eyes seemed to take in everything.

Many of the cooperating witnesses were well-known former drug traffickers, arrested years ago and extradited to the United States. But some were a surprise, like Christian Rodriguez, a young Colombian man who, it turned out, had played perhaps the most crucial role among all the informants at trial in building the case against El Chapo. A pudgy, soft-spoken young man, Christian was still in his twenties when he testified, years after he’d worked for El Chapo as something of a chief technology officer, with all the day-to-day headaches of an IT guy building communications systems for a particularly demanding boss, and then some. His testimony, and the evidence he’d gathered, revealed the most solid proof anyone had ever seen against El Chapo, and we hung on his every word.

Along with the two dozen or so reporters who formed the daily press corps, I watched intently to see how El Chapo would react to each cooperating witness, many of whom he had worked with closely for years, but might not have seen in decades. When El Rey Zambada entered, El Chapo appeared to greet him by raising his arms and crossing them as the two men locked eyes; as Dámaso López took the stand, he nodded at El Chapo, and held his hand to his heart; Vicentillo Zambada gave his compadre a smug little smile as he entered. Others seemed frightened, such as Christian Rodriguez, who tried to avoid looking in the direction of his former boss at all costs.

The most outrageous—and tabloid-worthy—reaction came on January 22, the second day of testimony by Lucero Sánchez López, a onetime state legislator in Sinaloa and, before that, El Chapo’s lover. On her first day of testimony, she had presented a pitiful sight, speaking in a meek, low voice, appearing afraid even to be in the same room as El Chapo. Then, the following Monday, El Chapo appeared resplendent in a red velvet smoking jacket, seemingly matching his outfit to his glamorous young wife, Emma Coronel Aispuro, who strolled into the courtroom in a similar, if considerably more formfitting jacket. They appeared to be sending a message: in the face of testimony from his former lover, El Chapo’s wife remained on his side.

On the day that the jury began deliberations, reporters threw out predictions for how long it would take them to reach a verdict; some guessed a few hours, arguing that the avalanche of evidence would convince even the most thorough juror of El Chapo’s guilt; others guessed that for that very reason it could take days, if jurors were going to make an honest go of assessing the evidence.

Finally, at around 2 p.m. on February 12, the sixth day of deliberations, the press officer for the Department of Justice sent out an urgent email: the jury had sent a note; they’d reached a verdict.

After more than two long months, this was it. But no one was surprised with the result: Joaquín Archivaldo Guzmán Loera was found guilty on all counts. El Chapo took it in stride, and if he had a reaction, I couldn’t see it on his face.

The jurors filed out, and after a few closing remarks, Judge Brian M. Cogan adjourned the court. Rising to his feet, El Chapo shook the hands of his lawyers, and turned to face his wife. Nodding at her a few times, he smiled, gave her a thumbs-up, and then turned around as the marshals led him out a side door.

A reporter approached Emma and asked her in Spanish how she felt. Her eyes were dry.

“Nobody’s dead,” she said, as she bustled past us and out the door.



A few months later, during my second trip to Sinaloa, I found myself in a half-empty coffee shop in Culiacán, stammering out questions to a guy named Beto. It was late, nearly 10 p.m., and the staff were eyeing us in hopes that we’d clear out so they could close up shop for the night. I was exhausted as well. Working with my fixer, a local reporter named Miguel Ángel Vega, I’d already done three or four hours of interviews that day, all in Spanish. My Spanish is okay, but it takes all the concentration I can muster to follow along and ask follow-up questions, and by the end of a day like that one, I was half-delirious, ready to drop. So when Beto and his two bodyguards strolled into the cafe, all tight jeans, polo shirts, flat-brim caps, and a lazy air of coiled menace around them, I was not only dead tired but also a little intimidated. They sat down and muttered darkly that they’d seen some men in the parking lot outside, didn’t like the looks of them, and had waited until they left. That’s why they were late.

At Beto’s request, we moved from the table by the window where Miguel Ángel and I had been sitting to another one farther inside, so Beto could have his back to the wall. A few minutes later it became clear that the interview wasn’t going well; it was my fault, and Beto seemed mildly annoyed. Shifting occasionally around in his seat, he looked uncomfortable, and during one of these fidgets I saw why, as he tugged the hem of his black polo shirt down to cover the handle of the semiautomatic pistol sticking out of his waistband.

He said he was a nephew of El Chapo, but that’s a vague term, and I figured he was probably more like a distant cousin. Still, he knew El Chapo better than almost anyone else I’d spoken with, and was particularly familiar with El Chapo’s later years. Raised in the tiny village of Nogalito, a few miles from El Chapo’s hometown of La Tuna, he worked closely with El Chapo, first as part of his security entourage and later as a pilot. I asked him something stupid: “Did you know your uncle well?” and he responded with a hint of mockery in his voice.

“I should,” he said with a smirk. “I practically slept in the same bed as him every night.”

I laughed nervously and tried to come up with a response, or at least my next question, but before I could do so, Beto looked up from his phone and locked eyes with me.

“I have a question for you,” he said. “Why do gringo journalists always want to come here to Sinaloa to ask about drugs?”

You’d think I would have had a ready answer for this. It was my second trip to Culiacán, and I’d been working on the same story now for more than six months. But what he said gave me pause. Why did U.S. journalists come here? Why was I here?

Good question.

The only other gringos I ran into in Culiacán during all of my trips there was a film crew working on a documentary, and it was no coincidence that I ran into them at the Jesús Malverde shrine, a seemingly required stop on the “narco tours” of Sinaloa that reliably shows up in nearly every book or documentary on the region. You know the ones: a tough host whispering to the camera about the danger he’s in, wondering if this pedestrian or that street juggler is a halcón, or falcon, the term for a cartel lookout; the masked dealers speaking in digitally altered tones near piles of drugs and weapons. I’ve watched them all, and I rarely come away from them feeling more knowledgeable about the situation in Sinaloa. There’s little hard information, little context, hardly any discussion of the role of the police and military outside of a cops-and-robbers dynamic. (Over time, as Miguel Ángel and I got to know one another better, we made a game of mocking this self-serious genre, pointing to sillier and sillier candidates to identify as potential halcónes. My favorite was the inflatable dancing tube figure outside a car dealership.)

I came to Culiacán to do something different. When I first set out to write this book, I was asked the same question again and again: How are you going to find new information? Well-meaning friends, know-it-alls on Twitter, even a Customs and Border Protection agent at JFK Airport asked me this, pointing out as he stamped my passport that he’d already seen Narcos. What more was there to find out? For one thing, I knew that El Chapo’s story needed to be cast in a more nuanced light, offering a better understanding not just of his exploits but of the place he came from, the time in history he inhabited, the forces of prohibition and foreign policy that shaped the drug trade and helped make him wealthy and left tens of thousands of Mexicans dead and tens of thousands more disappeared.

But sitting there next to Beto, I didn’t know how to articulate that. I know better now, and I wish I could have explained myself to Beto. Here was a rough man, almost certainly with blood on his hands, asking me a simple question without malice or mockery. Why was I here in Culiacán, asking him questions about his uncle?

In response, I stammered something corny about finding the truth, telling the story of El Chapo, explaining how the opioid crisis was ravaging communities in the United States and it was important to understand where the drugs came from and what motivates the people here to send the drugs north. But I could tell Beto wasn’t satisfied with my answer. I wasn’t satisfied with my answer.

In the end, I never got the second interview with him; I never got to answer his question. A month or so after we first met, I was standing in the kitchen of my apartment in Mexico City, about to go for a walk with a friend, when my cell phone rang: it was Miguel Ángel. We’d been discussing plans for an upcoming trip to Sinaloa, which was to be my third. Among other meetings, I’d been pestering him to get me in touch with Beto again, to give me a chance to do a more thorough interview after blowing it the first time. But when I picked up, Miguel Ángel’s voice sounded different, strained, stressed out.

“Dude, they fucking killed Beto,” Miguel Ángel said in Spanish. “Beto’s dead.”

“What the fuck,” I said, walking into another room. I asked Miguel to slow down, and then asked him to speak in English, as I was having trouble understanding his rapid-fire report filtered through a shitty phone connection.

Miguel Ángel didn’t know much at that point, but over the next few days, word trickled out. One Sunday, July 21, Beto had received a call from someone claiming to be a cop, who told Beto that he’d arrested one of Beto’s guys, that Beto would need to show up at a meeting place with ten thousand dollars if he wanted his man to come home alive. Beto had gotten the cash, and with two other men had gone to meet the cops. None of them were ever seen alive again. Two days later, Beto and his aide, the first guy to be “arrested,” were found in a construction site on the outskirts of town, their bodies disfigured with signs of torture, bullet holes in their heads. Like so many other young men in Sinaloa, Beto was now a victim, a statistic, one of dozens of people murdered in the city that month.

Miguel Ángel and I never figured out why someone decided to kill Beto. Maybe it was a routine shakedown operation by crooked cops; maybe he pissed someone off; maybe someone owed him money and they didn’t want to pay up. People like Beto have enemies, they live dangerously, and they die for a lot of different reasons. At thirty-four, Beto was an elder statesman in narco years. Shortly before he died, Beto gave an interview to a British journalist with little experience working in Mexico, and in a parking lot in broad daylight Beto had shown the reporter the weapons he had stashed in the back of his truck. Maybe someone had seen this exchange and found it concerning. The British journalist wrote up the interview in breathless terms, laughably referring to Beto as a “drug baron.” When word of Beto’s death reached him, the reporter all but bragged about having spoken to Beto just days before he disappeared, recalling Beto’s “last supper with me.” (Miguel Ángel was not involved in setting up that interview.) Later, I would head up to the mountains to visit the little cemetery where Beto was buried, perched on a peak high above the village where he was born. I sat with his family as they spoke of the young man they had loved, the one who used to buzz his Cessna over their house whenever he flew back home for work or for a visit. They spoke with bitter anger at the way he had been killed, disappeared and dumped in a parking lot, rather than shot down like a man, gun in hand.

When I learned of Beto’s death, I was upset that he had died violently; I was upset that his family was left grieving; I was upset that for a kid born in a tiny village deep in the mountains of Sinaloa, the life that Beto chose was virtually the only way for him to find respect and material comfort, and that this same life condemned him to an early death. And I felt regret that I never got to fully answer his question, to explain to him why I was reporting this book, why people so far away in the States would care about what’s happening in his hometown.

From the outset, I intended to use the myth of El Chapo to tell a larger story: that of the drug trade in Mexico, how its interactions and entanglements with the state went far beyond the common assumptions of the cops-and-robbers dynamic, the brave cops and heroic soldiers and federal agents pursuing the dastardly, death-loving drug traffickers.

I hope this book serves as some sort of answer to Beto’s question. But it’s not just Beto who deserves an answer. My greatest hope is that I may add a bit of clarity to a complex story. Not just the story of El Chapo, but of Sinaloa, Ciudad Juárez, and of Mexico: the story of the chaotic, futile, and bloody mess of the so-called war on drugs.

This is a story I am able to tell only because of the unfathomably brave work of a small army of honest journalists in Mexico, many of whom faced grave danger and vile threats—and too many of whom paid with their lives—simply for committing the crime of telling the truth. I will be grateful to them as long as I live.

This book deals with a narrow slice of life in Mexico. The goal of it is to illustrate the mechanisms of power, corruption, and violence that influence and perpetuate the drug trade, and the society in which it exists. But this narrow view is a violent one, a dark one, and it cannot encompass the joyous, brilliant, vibrant and exhilarating aspects of life in Mexico. It is my greatest hope that readers of this book will seek out Mexico for themselves, and that they love what they find.






1 THE BOY FROM LA TUNA


IT’S A HOT and sunny day in mid-April 2019, and I’m sitting in the passenger seat of a borrowed Honda Pilot SUV driven by Miguel Ángel Vega, a jovial reporter born and raised in Culiacán. We’re on our way to La Tuna, the birthplace of El Chapo, and like many of the towns and villages in these parts, it is not an easy place to get to. For people who don’t want to be found, that’s what makes it such a good place to hide. Driving along the twists and turns of Highway 24 as it hugs the curves of the hillsides, I can see why Sinaloans pride themselves on autonomy: in a place this remote, you can’t look to the outside world for help. As I was about to find out, they take matters of security into their own hands out here.

It’s an hour just to get from Culiacán to the municipal capital of Badiraguato, a town of about 3,700 people that spreads out on either side of the highway, which forms a main drag through town. Crossing the last bridge on the way out of Badiraguato, our cell phones lose service, and we drive for another hour up the highway before our next turn. Miguel Ángel and I pass the time chatting about the job, him quizzing me on my experience reporting on El Chapo’s trial and me asking him questions about the area, obscure figures in the drug trade, his life reporting on the violence in his hometown. It’s early afternoon now, and I’m forced to reapply sunscreen to my skin, still pale from winter in New York, and eventually I drape a spare shirt over my right arm to keep it from burning in the sun. Finally we come to the turnoff that will lead to La Tuna. This is where we hit the first checkpoint.

Miguel Ángel eases his foot off the gas and cuts the wheel left to turn onto a narrow dirt track headed off the highway and deeper into the mountains. By the side of the road, lounging in the shade of a tree, three men sit cradling AK-47-style rifles. As we pull up, they go bolt upright and eye us with sudden attention. A few feet away up a slight hill, a fourth man hops out of the cab of a bulldozer, an AK in one hand and a walkie-talkie in the other. With the walkie-talkie hand, he waves at us to stop, as his pals get to their feet. Apart from the tactical vests that hold extra magazines of ammo, all four men are dressed in street clothes. These men are not soldiers, and they’re not cops, although they might be the closest thing to cops or soldiers around here.

Years after a team of Mexican Marines and a couple of DEA agents captured El Chapo in the coastal Sinaloan city of Mazatlán, and years after he made his second escape from a maximum-security prison, and years after another team of Mexican Marines captured him in the Sinaloan city of Los Mochis, and years after Mexican authorities washed their hands of him and handed him over to U.S. agents and he was loaded onto a plane and flown to New York, where he was convicted on all counts to face life in prison, the valley where El Chapo spent his youth remains solidly under the control of his brother Aureliano Guzmán Loera, a rotund and fearsome man known by his nickname, “El Guano.”

El Guano was never much of a kingpin, nor even a second-in-command to El Chapo, who had always favored another brother, Arturo. El Guano’s not much of a kingpin now, either; his domain extends about as far as the highway, and he’s mostly in control of the drug cultivation in the area, while others make the real money smuggling drugs north and wield the real power, paying off entire police departments and city governments. But on this road, in this valley, El Guano is the man, and it’s with his permission, granted on a semipermanent basis through a contact of Miguel Ángel, that we’re allowed to enter the area.

The lead gunman appears to be in his late twenties, his arms covered in tattoos. Gripping the AK by its distinctive curved magazine—referred to in Mexico as a cuerno de chivo, or goat’s horn—he keeps the muzzle pointed at the ground as he strolls up to the passenger-side window and motions for me to roll it down.

He wants to know who we are, what we’re doing there. Do we have permission to be there?

I’m not sure how to respond.

When Miguel Ángel picked me up at the airport twenty-four hours earlier, the first thing he told me was the importance of being honest with these guys: as long as you’re straight with them, they’ll be straight with you. If you tell the truth, you don’t have to worry. Miguel Ángel should know. After working for years as a journalist in Culiacán for the local weekly paper Riodoce (and a stint directing movies), he now makes his living as a “fixer,” driving international reporters around the state setting up interviews with all manner of shady characters. Around here, he’s the best in the business, and does a brisk trade as one of the only reporters with the contacts necessary to gain access to La Tuna.

When the gunman asks me if I speak Spanish, the first thing that comes out of my mouth is a lie.

“No,” I say, feigning a look of regret.

My heart is pounding. Although I had known we might come across checkpoints like this, and I had heard stories of other reporters being turned away, Miguel Ángel and I have not discussed what I should say in such a situation. It seems wise to let him do the talking.

After giving me a hard stare for a moment, the gunman turns to Miguel Ángel and asks him who we are, if we’re journalists. In a cheerfully deferential tone, Miguel says that yes, we’re reporters, but explains that we’re just here to see a friend.

Not a lie! Over the years, Miguel Ángel has cultivated a relationship with our host, an evangelical Christian who lives and raises cattle in La Tuna, just a short walk from the home of El Chapo’s mother, and who graciously hosts Miguel Ángel and his rotating cast of guests.

“He’s expecting us, ask them on the radio,” Miguel Ángel tells the gunman with the tattoos and the hard stare.

Without taking his eyes off us, the young gunman takes a step back and mutters something into the radio. After a moment, he receives an answer that seems to satisfy him. He turns to me again, nearly blinding me with his gaze.

“¿Cómo te llamas?” he asks. “What’s your name?”

Although I’ve been following the conversation fine, I perk up at this, as if the question is the first thing I understand, a relic of some Spanish 101 class in high school, and answer like I’m proud to pass a test.

“Noah, me llamo Noah,” I chirp with only partially feigned relief, heart still racing.

The gunman gives me a close look, as if trying to determine if I’m lying.

“Okay,” he says finally, with a raise of his eyebrows. After one more squint for good measure, he waves us along.

Miguel Ángel waves at the men as we pass. I dig into my backpack, pull out a pack of cigarettes, and light one, taking a long drag in relief.

“Dude,” Miguel Ángel says happily, “were you so fucking scared?”



From the highway, we follow a dirt track as it curves and plunges and climbs its way deeper into the hills. The drive is punctuated now and again by small ranches and villages, some with names that would be familiar to a knowledgeable scholar of Mexico’s drug lore, in which Sinaloa plays a central role. This area spawned enough big-name narcos to field the starting lineup of a baseball team (along with a healthy portion of the bullpen), and we pass through a series of villages that were once home to many of the men whose names have dominated most-wanted posters and newspaper headlines at one time or another for decades: Huixiopa, the birthplace of Juan José Esparragoza Moreno, alias El Azul; La Palma, hometown of the brothers Beltrán Leyva; and finally, La Tuna, home of El Chapo.

As we enter the village, it’s immediately apparent that, among the impoverished villages of the region, this little community has received special attention. Dirt roads give way to paving stones, and most of the houses are in better shape than those in the villages we’ve passed. A group of young men in skinny jeans and polo shirts sit on all-terrain vehicles clustered around one of the stores. Most have walkie-talkies clipped to the belts of their jeans, and some of them have pistols sticking out of their waistbands, and they turn to give us a hard stare from under their flat-brim baseball caps as we roll past.

La Tuna is laid out in something of a horseshoe shape, and at the end of the valley, the road bends sharply and heads up the hill before curving back around. Above the midpoint of the bend in the road there sits a walled compound, the roof of a red-tiled pagoda poking above it, overlooking the valley: the home El Chapo built for his mother, now in her nineties. At the top of the ridge, about fifty yards from the compound, sits a beautiful blue and white church, which El Chapo financed in the late 1980s as a gift to his mother. Like many in La Tuna, she has been a devout born-again Christian since missionaries began spreading the good word here in the eighties, prompting a wave of conversions to the Apostolic Church, a breakaway Pentecostal movement. Just below the church sits the home of our host, and we climb out of the SUV and stand on the patio stretching, taking in the view.



Joaquín Archivaldo Guzmán Loera was born on April 4, 1957, in La Tuna to Emilio Guzmán Bustillo and María Consuelo Loera Pérez, and he grew up there with his brothers Miguel Ángel, Aureliano, Emilio, and Arturo, and sisters Armida and Bernarda. Like most of their neighbors in La Tuna, the Guzmán family didn’t have much, but with a few head of cattle inherited from El Chapo’s grandparents, they were still better off than some of their neighbors. Little Joaquín was a short kid, squat, earning himself the nickname El Chapo—meaning “Shorty”—that would stick with him for life. During my visit to La Tuna, I find a first cousin of El Chapo wrangling cows into a wire cattle pen, and when he takes a break, I ask him to describe young El Chapo to me.

“Ever since he was a child, he was a talented and bright kid, he wanted to get ahead,” he told me. “I’m telling you, this guy was a real fighter, a good worker and everything.”

When it comes to El Chapo’s early home life, it’s hard to separate mythology and fact. Some versions paint El Chapo’s father as a vicious and brutal man, a mean drunk who beat the young future kingpin at every opportunity and spent the little he earned on booze and prostitutes. Most of the relatives I speak with deny any abuse by Emilio’s hand, although some do acknowledge that El Chapo’s father was never one for hard work.

“Just like in any big family, there’s one lazy one, one dumb one, one wild one, and so on,” the cousin says. “Emilio just didn’t like to work very much, but he was a good person.”

María Consuelo, El Chapo’s mother, on the other hand worked herself to the bone, tending to the family’s small herd of cattle and raising young Joaquín and his siblings. El Chapo took after his mother’s work ethic.

“Even as a little child he had ambitions,” María Consuelo recalled in an interview published in 2014.

“I remember he had a lot of paper money—little notes of fifties and fives,” his mother told the reporter. “He’d count and recount them, then tie them up in little piles. He’d say, ‘Mama, save them for me.’ It was just colored paper, but they looked real. He piled them up carefully…. Ever since he was little, he always had hopes.”

With an eye toward business at an early age, legend has it that he would sell oranges to people along the winding, hilly walk between La Tuna and Huixiopa. On Sundays, his sister has said, he would get dolled up in cheap, fake gold chains and go out visiting family members and chatting up his neighbors. No matter that the fake gold would often give his skin a greenish hue.

El Chapo would continue to be a bit of a mama’s boy even as he rose to prominence as one of Mexico’s most notorious drug traffickers. In his only known interview, he described the relationship with María Consuelo as “perfect… lots of respect, affection, and love.” For years, even when he was the most wanted man in Mexico, El Chapo would make regular visits back to La Tuna to see his mother. And as his wealth and status increased, he saw to it that she lived in comfort; he built the spacious compound in the center of La Tuna that she occupies to this day and installed on a hill above town a massive tank that continues to deliver running water to his mom’s house, along with the rest of the village.

El Chapo never grew taller than five feet six inches tall, but he was a lively kid who loved to play volleyball, as long as he wasn’t busy helping with the cattle or heading out on his sales rounds. It was that inner drive, that motivation and entrepreneurial spirit, that pushed him to look for opportunities beyond selling bread and oranges. As with so many other young men in the Golden Triangle, opportunity came in the form of opium and weed.



The hemp plant arrived in Mexico in the sixteenth century, introduced by an emissary of the Spanish Empire who realized the crop would grow well in the colony, straddling the Tropic of Cancer, where temperate and tropical climates meet. The marijuana plant was in great demand at the time for the fabrication of the hemp ropes and sails necessary to maintain the Spanish crown’s world-conquering navy, but over time the plant’s flowers and the THC they contained began to be used for their psychoactive properties.

The red and pink flowers of opium poppies were also imported, from the Far East; government officials first made note of the presence of the plant growing in Sinaloa in 1889. In the mountains of the so-called Golden Triangle, where persistent droughts, thin topsoil, and steep slopes limit agricultural yield, poppies presented an attractive option to poor subsistence farmers. They could be harvested as many as three times per year and brought a significantly higher price at market than corn or beans. Many local farmers started to augment their subsistence crops with small plots of poppies and marijuana, while landowners and ranchers began to see large-scale promise in them as cash crops. A terminology sprang up around the trade: in these mountains, the opium poppy is known as amapola; the sap that is harvested for opium is called goma, or gum; and the growers and harvesters are known as gomeros, or gummers.

Before long, opium dens could be found in cities across northern Mexico, and opium and its derivative morphine began appearing in tinctures and patent medicines, as a brisk trade grew between the Sinaloan port city of Mazatlán and merchants in San Francisco. With the prohibition of opium in the United States in 1914, and in Mexico in 1920, the early drug runners of Sinaloa saw their profits soar when selling the stuff on the black market. Throughout the nineteenth and early twentieth centuries, opium (along with cocaine) had been legally available to consumers in a wide array of medicinal forms. In a pattern that would grimly repeat itself nearly a century later in the OxyContin-to-heroin pipeline, many consumers who had gotten hooked on formerly legal opium tinctures soon began turning to heroin. Thus demand increased, which in turn increased cultivation of opium in the Golden Triangle and other opium-producing regions across the globe.

The early drug trade in Sinaloa and the smuggling routes to the United States were initially dominated in part by pharmacists, but also by Chinese-Mexican syndicates who by at least 1916 were ferrying tins of raw opium north to Mexicali and across the border into Southern California, where they sold it to a Los Angeles–based Chinese man with connections up the West Coast. Even in these nascent, mom-and-pop days, there was a tremendous amount of money to be made in the illegal drug trade, and members of the Chinese syndicates could be seen rolling around Tijuana and Culiacán in the most expensive late-model cars Detroit had to offer. It wasn’t long before Mexican gangsters began looking for a way to wrest the business from their Chinese counterparts.

Mexico during this time was in the midst of an identity crisis. After years of turmoil, the federal government was faced with the challenge of uniting a racially diverse nation divided into thirty-one states, many that were essentially ruled by the landowners who had survived the revolution or revolutionary generals who had used it to seize power. The early state builders and founding intellectuals of post-revolution Mexico set out to craft a unified national identity, celebrating the mix of indigenous and Spanish heritage that had no room for minorities like the Chinese or culturally distinct indigenous communities. Throughout the 1920s, anti-Chinese propagandists churned out newspapers such as El Nacionalista (The Nationalist) and Pro-Patria (Pro-Fatherland), blaming any social ill imaginable on the Chinese, whom they depicted as spreaders of disease and peddlers of vice, contaminating the purity of Mexico’s youth with illegal gambling parlors, brothels, and opium dens. The campaign, directly inspired by similar ethnic violence against Chinese communities in the United States, reached its brutal apex in Sonora and Sinaloa, where anti-Chinese committees and nationalist gangs looted Chinese homes and expropriated businesses, forcibly deporting hundreds of residents and making life so unpleasant for others that they packed up and left. Between 1926 and 1940, more than three quarters of the Chinese population of Mexico either fled or were driven out by nationalist mobs and local police. Of the nearly 25,000 Chinese or Mexicans of Chinese descent living in the country in 1930, fewer than 5,000 remained a decade later. In Sonora, just 92 people remained from a community that once numbered 3,571 inhabitants. In Sinaloa, the Chinese population plunged from 2,123 to 165. Despite feeble attempts to repatriate some victims of the ethnic cleansing, the Chinese community of Mexico never recovered.

Sensing an opportunity, Mexican smugglers leapt into the fray. Taking advantage of—or actively fomenting—the chaos and racial tension of the moment, they swiftly and forcibly expropriated the businesses of the Chinese drug traffickers who until then had controlled the opium trade in northern Mexico. Working with their patrons in local government and forging ties with North American mafiosi, these Mexican gangsters set about building the modern drug trade.



The people of the Golden Triangle have long had a complicated relationship with the Mexican state. Many of its sons fought in the Mexican Revolution, that series of rebellions, military coups, peasant land grabs, and betrayals that began in 1910 and by the 1920s gave birth to the modern Mexican state. And in the decades afterward, Sinaloa was a rough place, rife with conflicts between peasants, landowners, and ranchers, as peasants agitated for land reform and local elites responded with waves of savage terror. It was not until the 1940s that the region began to stabilize, and the sticky paste of the poppy plant functioned as the glue that held together the fragile peace between peasants, village elites, political officials, and law enforcement.

By the time El Chapo was born in 1957, drug trafficking was essentially a state-controlled industry, and there existed a social order rooted in the drug trade: at the bottom, as always, were the peasants who grew drugs on small plots of land or did seasonal labor picking weed or scraping poppies. But rather than scratching a meager living from the thin mountain topsoil, peasants harvesting two opium crops per year from just one hectare of land saw enough cash to put them in the top 17 percent of wage earners in the state. Seasonal workers earned the state’s average annual wage in just four weeks of work. These earnings, inflated by the black market, helped to keep local peasants pacified.

Above the peasants were the very same men who just years earlier had been hell-bent on stopping land reform through terror and violence. And at the top, local and state elites profited from the money kicked up by traffickers, which pumped cash into the state economy and filled the campaign war chests of local and national political leaders in Mexico City alike.

The very existence of anti-drug laws made control over rural areas a more manageable task, allowing government forces to collect profits from and maintain control over the production of opium and marijuana while keeping the peace, however violently. Whenever soldiers or local cops needed to meet an eradication quota, nip a peasant rebellion in the bud, or take out an overly violent or ostentatious trafficker, they could simply remember to enforce the law against their target while instilling in the surviving growers and traffickers fear, discipline, and a willingness to pay the “tax,” according to historian Nathaniel Morris.

“If the soldiers know they’re only ever going to be able to destroy 20 percent of the [opium] plantations, and the peasants know that too, it’s very easy for them to just make a deal,” Morris said. “The only people who could have any complaints about this are the people who are having their opium destroyed, and because they’re opium growers, they don’t really have any recourse.”

The unspoken approval of these tactics by Mexico City did not necessarily mean that the president of the republic was directly running a drug cartel, but the structure of the state relied on the stability this relationship ensured. The Institutional Revolutionary Party, which ran Mexico as a de facto one-party state from 1929 until 2000, perpetuated its power by showering rewards and patronage on the wealthy who supported it and co-opting unions to capture and kill any potential radical labor agitation. This was as true of poppies as it was of petroleum.

Wary of drawing undue attention to any one dictator or president for life, the PRI maintained a veneer of democracy while holding a vise grip on power in virtually all sectors of government, an autocratic project once labeled the “perfect dictatorship.” Each president served a six-year term, known as a sexenio, and chose his anointed successor in a process known as the dedazo, or tap of the finger; for seventy years, the PRI successor always won. But in many areas of the country, such as in the highlands of Sinaloa, the state had little presence and allowed communities to run themselves in a semiautonomous fashion as long as they did not challenge the legitimacy of the government. And when the state reasserted itself, it often did so with brute force.

When El Chapo was in his teens, his hometown got a firsthand taste of the violence the government could inflict in poor areas where illicit crops were grown, as documented by the historian Froylán Enciso. On February 8, 1975, Enciso writes, three army helicopters descended from the sky and alighted outside the hamlet of San José del Barranco, just a short walk down the road from La Tuna. Piling out of the choppers, soldiers and police agents rampaged through the village and, apparently finding no men to arrest, contented themselves with beating and tearing the clothing off the women they encountered, and opened fire at a pair of preteen boys, injuring one of them. When a group of women gathered up the courage to head to Culiacán and protest this outrage, officials released a different version of the story, claiming that soldiers had come under fire from the villagers and recovered two pistols when sweeping the hamlet.

In a 2018 interview, El Chapo’s sister Bernarda, three years his junior, described these years as deeply frightening, and recalled sitting in the dark while soldiers stomped outside, as dogs barked in the night. According to Bernarda, El Chapo had run-ins with soldiers during this time.

“They hit him,” she told reporters from Vice News, adding that the beating took place in front of their mother. “And they didn’t allow us to say anything.”

During my first trip to La Tuna, I heard a similar story: that any hope El Chapo may have had for pouring his ambitions into a legitimate business was beaten out of him by soldiers. The abuses showed him and countless others that they were on their own, and would have to make their own way in the world, by whatever means available to them.

In Sinaloa, the cultivation and trafficking of opium and marijuana emerged as a key pillar of stability for the burgeoning patronage system, allowing for the peace and quiet that Mexico City demanded and the limited self-rule that the proudly independent serranos, or highlanders, saw as a way of life. This was the world into which El Chapo was born, but by the time he began working in the drug trade, the old order was already starting to break down as federal authorities began to rethink the amount of autonomy its serrano subjects enjoyed, and began to contemplate how they could wrest control of the lucrative drug trade from state officials. The raids on La Tuna and countless other Sierra villages in the mid-1970s were a warning shot of what was to come.



By the time of El Chapo’s birth the cultivation of these illicit crops had become entrenched in the region, and gomeros passed the tradition from father to son. At every rung of the ladder, from growers to buyers to smugglers, the business functioned along clan lines, and names like Carrillo, Quintero, Payán, Fernández—and later, Guzmán—popped up again and again throughout the decades as one generation took over from the last. For El Chapo, it was no different. He first entered the drug trade with his father, working as a hired hand on poppy and marijuana plots in the mountains around La Tuna, and sometimes traveled farther afield to sell the product in other areas of the state.

El Chapo left formal education for good after elementary school. For years, rumors have abounded that he remains nearly illiterate, although this is an exaggeration. Still, letters penned by El Chapo in later years show a spidery, uneven handwriting full of spelling mistakes. This shortcoming, however, did little to hinder his ability to advance in the drug trade, which requires a different kind of cunning than the traditional schooling he left behind. Many people who knew him over the years described a striving ambition and a calculating mind, and it was likely these attributes that helped ensure that young El Chapo was not destined to remain a poor rancher in La Tuna, nor anyone’s hired hand.

At some point in his youth, El Chapo relocated from the deep rural outpost of La Tuna to the somewhat more happening town of Badiraguato, where he became close with the brothers Beltrán Leyva—Arturo, Héctor, Alfredo, Carlos, and Mario—who had grown up not far from La Tuna and would for decades be among his closest collaborators. According to a former lover, his decision to move out of his hometown in the mountains was motivated in part by a desire to escape his home life, and in part by a visceral terror of remaining in poverty, a motivation that would propel him for the rest of his life. In time, El Chapo would outgrow Badiraguato as well, and in his early twenties he relocated to Culiacán, where he threw himself into his work.

Myths and legends abound regarding these early years of El Chapo’s drug career: according to some sources, El Chapo was related to or at least in the employ of the veteran drug lord Pedro Avilés Pérez, aka “The Lion of the Sierra,” who in the 1970s was deeply embedded with the Sinaloan political elite and was busily rising a head above the rest as a pioneer in the use of airplanes to smuggle drugs; other versions have El Chapo working as a driver for a visionary ex-cop named Miguel Ángel Félix Gallardo, who would dominate the scene in the 1980s. I distrust these stories, in part because they very conveniently put El Chapo in the employ of two of the best-known traffickers of the time, and because they assume that a job in the drug trade functions along the organizational principles of a normal company: get a job, rise through the ranks. In truth, even as traffickers like Avilés and later Félix Gallardo grew more powerful than others and oversaw vast operations, the drug trade—at least on ground level—was fairly decentralized, countless crews working together sometimes and in opposition other times. All that mattered, really, was paying off the right cops, the right politicians, and you could probably make some good money trafficking drugs.

When El Chapo married his first wife, Alejandrina María Salazar Hernández, in 1977, at the age of nineteen or twenty, there was little fanfare in the Sinaloa tabloids—which covered some local narcos like high society—indicating that El Chapo was still a small fish at the time. El Chapo and Salazar had three children together: César, Iván Archivaldo, and Jesús Alfredo. But like many drug traffickers before and since, his eye soon wandered: a few years after his marriage to Salazar, he is said to have been so taken by a beautiful young bank teller that he kidnapped her in order to “marry her.” This was soon followed by a third marriage, to Griselda López Pérez, with whom he had four children: Édgar, Joaquín, Ovidio, and Griselda Guadalupe. It’s unclear if he ever divorced any of his wives, but this never stopped him from marrying again and again.

According to a psychological profile sketched out by a psychiatrist for the attorney general’s office in the 1990s, the young trafficker from La Tuna was narcissistic, but feared “being the center of attention,” likely because he had seen firsthand that being at the center of attention often didn’t work well for long in his line of business. He was a quick thinker, swift to “analyze and synthesize… capable of relating facts and ideas and drawing logical conclusions from them,” and knew how to keep composed, even when things didn’t go his way. He was not quick to fly off the handle like some violent and powerful men, but that didn’t mean he was someone you wanted to piss off.

“[Revenge] is not something that he exacts with the immediacy of an impulsive person,” the report found. “His response is calculated, intentional, his vision is to hurt his adversary using his weaknesses to produce the most harm possible.”

El Chapo knew the importance of family, and preferred to work with people who shared his roots in Badiraguato, even better if they were related by blood, or by marriage. As much as he could, he partnered with people he had known for years, people with whom he had shared baptisms and weddings; he often delegated his most sensitive tasks to his brother Arturo, or to one of his brothers-in-law.

As his family expanded, so too did El Chapo’s responsibilities as a drug trafficker, and his mind was never far from his work.

“Chapo always talks about drug business wherever he is,” one former lieutenant later recalled. “With whatever people he’s with, he’s talking about drugs.”

El Chapo was rising fast, part of a new cohort of Sinaloan traffickers in the Guadalajara Cartel who were headed for positions of power. His closest partners were the Beltrán Leyva brothers, with whom he had grown up in Badiraguato; Ismael “El Mayo” Zambada, a collected and coolheaded man about a decade older than El Chapo who was born south of Culiacán; and Héctor Luís Palma Salazar, known as “El Güero,” or Blondie, for his light complexion, an ex–car thief and steely-eyed murderer from Mocorito, Sinaloa.

These men would continue working with one another for decades, and later formed the leadership of what is now commonly known as the Sinaloa Cartel.






2 EXODUS


IT MAY HAVE been ambition and brains and a spasm of violence that helped propel El Chapo out of the mountains at a young age in search of a better life, but his trajectory in life had as much or more to do with the time period he was born into as with his raw talent. The old way was dying, new kings were being made, and young guns like El Chapo had an opportunity to rise fast.

In the years that El Chapo was entering the drug trade, Mexico was coming under increasing pressure from the United States to combat the production and trafficking of opium and marijuana. In 1969, less than a year into his term, President Richard Nixon ordered a dramatic show of force along the entire length of the U.S.-Mexico border, in which Customs agents searched every single car driving into the United States. Dubbed Operation Intercept, the move came with little warning, and caused massive traffic jams at virtually every port of entry from Tijuana to Brownsville. The message was clear: the United States could cause Mexico a great deal of pain if it wanted to, so Mexico City had better play ball. The PRI had long resisted overt anti-drug mandates from Washington, but now its leaders saw that they would have to comply.

In 1973, two years after he officially declared a “war on drugs,” President Nixon combined a number of federal police agencies under one roof to create a new agency whose singular purpose was to fight the scourge of drugs: the DEA. As Washington made it increasingly clear that Mexico would need to clamp down on traffickers, Mexico City likely saw a way to placate their neighbor and seize control of local protection rackets all at once: Operation Condor.



Since its inception, drug trafficking in Mexico had functioned as a sort of loosely connected network of fiefdoms, each overseen by a feudal baron, or cacique, who ruled his roost through a combination of patronage (earning loyalty by injecting money into the local economy and sponsoring public works); corruption (kicking in drug money to fund PRI campaign coffers in Mexico City); and violence (killing or arresting rogue traffickers unlucky or stupid enough to not receive protection). This was known as the “plaza system.”

Perhaps the best anatomy of the so-called plaza system comes in Drug Lord, by Terrence Poppa. This masterful chronicle of the rise and fall of the Chihuahuan trafficker Pablo Acosta describes the “plaza” as a sort of jurisdiction overseen by a “plaza boss” who in turn acts as the point of contact for whichever police commander was tasked with taking bribes and instructing his underlings not to touch the traffickers.

“To stay in the good graces of his patrons in power, the plaza holder had a dual obligation: to generate money for his protectors and to lend his intelligence gathering abilities by fingering the independent operators, those narcotics traffickers and drug growers who tried to avoid paying the necessary tribute,” Poppa writes. “It was a system that enabled the Mexican political and police structures to keep a lid on drugs and profit handsomely from it at the same time.”

This or that trafficker may have been the boss of a given plaza, but it was clear they were just renting. The real owners were the local authorities to whom they paid bribes. These local authorities tolerated, protected, and even participated in the drug trade because it kept peasants from pushing for serious land reform, put money into their own pockets, and injected a huge amount of capital into the state economy. In Sinaloa, the business community was well aware of the potential riches to be found in opium, and for a time some local notables agitated for the legalization of opium crops for the production of morphine and other pharmaceutical drugs. United Nations treaties on drug trafficking allowed for legal opium crops in countries like Turkey, Iran, and Yugoslavia, they reasoned; why not in Sinaloa? In one editorial, a pro-legalization author even offered a fig leaf to anti-drug crusaders with the suggestion that some of the tax revenue from legal opium could be used to fight the true scourge of marijuana, a drug of degeneracy, madness, and crime. Thanks in part to the drug trade, Sinaloa had enjoyed a major economic boom in the decades following World War II: between 1950 and 1960, heads of cattle increased from about 590,000 to more than a million, while the number of cars and trucks zooming along the roads of Sinaloa more than doubled, from just 16,743 in 1960 to 35,539 in 1970. All the while, levels of violence remained low.

This system functioned on a local basis for decades, with little centralized coordination, and drug lords like Eduardo “Lalo” Fernández, Pedro Avilés, and other top traffickers of this generation were deeply embedded with local elites and enjoyed near total impunity. But by the mid-1970s, this “Pax Sinaloa” had already begun to break down. Demand for marijuana was at an all-time high thanks to the hippie boom in the United States, and heroin dealers there were clamoring for a new source of product after the United States and its allies dismantled the so-called French Connection heroin pipeline from Europe to the United States in 1972. Both factors caused production of marijuana and opium to surge in Sinaloa, and the drug trade expanded rapidly. And because it was an illegal industry, disputes between traffickers jockeying for a slice of the action could only be mediated through violence. The Culiacán to which El Chapo moved in the mid-1970s was overflowing with newcomers from the Sierra, and it was overrun with new money, drugs, and violence. Murders soared, and the state saw a resurgence in left-wing agitation from students and radical peasant groups—a development perhaps more disturbing to Mexico City than the rise in drug production.

As the federal government sought to rein in local autonomy in all its forms and extend its centralized power to every corner of Mexico, there began a concerted campaign by federal law enforcement agencies like the Federal Judicial Police (PJF) to seize control of the state-run protection rackets. In those days, Sinaloa was known as a plum posting for federal police, most of whom were paid wretchedly, saw little hope of retirement, and could not trust their bosses or their government to have their back. Working with drug traffickers was as close to a retirement plan as they were going to get, and Sinaloa offered the most enticing benefits package around, leading some cops to fight for the opportunity to do a tour of duty in the state. It could mean the difference between scraping by on a lowly civil servant’s salary and the high stakes and fast life of a cop on the take. PJF agents earned such a reputation for avarice, corruption, and brutality that local outlets took to referring to them as “Attila’s Hordes.”

The name Operation Condor referred to a series of campaigns by federal police under the umbrella of the PGR (Spanish initials for the attorney general’s office) and soldiers under the defense ministry. Billed as a broad and sustained campaign against the drug trade, it was equal parts counterinsurgency campaign, hostile takeover, and a nasty episode of corporate raiding on the part of federal police against the local and state authorities who had previously run the show.

The first phases of Operation Condor, consisting of aerial defoliation spraying and an increased military presence, began in 1975 under President Luís Escheverría, who was already mounting an eventually unsuccessful scheme to be named Secretary-General of the United Nations when his term ended. His successor, President José López Portillo, went a step further in maintaining a facade of coordination with U.S. anti-drug policy, and allowed on-the-ground support from advisors with the fledgling DEA. This concession by López Portillo came as a huge victory to U.S. officials, who felt like they were finally getting the cooperation they had long sought from Mexico City.

“This is my third year here but never have we had the working relationship with Mexican officials that we’ve had since launching this year’s campaign,” said one DEA agent in January 1976. “In this respect it’s a new and much better ball game.”

But for residents of Sinaloa, it was a different story. People who lived through those years recall the arrival of Operation Condor as a time of siege, with military vehicles choking the streets of Culiacán as soldiers headed to and from the highlands, or rushed to bust clandestine heroin labs in the city. Human rights abuses, including illegal detentions, disappearances, and torture, were commonplace.

In the mountains, it was even worse.

Several top military commanders overseeing Condor had cut their teeth in repressive campaigns against the PRI’s political opponents, including the 1968 Tlatelolco massacre of student protesters in Mexico City and the dirty wars against left-wing guerrillas in the state of Guerrero (sometimes in collaboration with local drug traffickers). In these campaigns, the military disappeared hundreds of civilians. The army’s tactics took on a similarly brutal form during Operation Condor.

With crop dusters spewing poison from on high, legal crops were destroyed along with drug plots, and troops swept through the area spreading terror to nearly everyone in their path. These scorched-earth tactics mostly fell on the heads of poor farmers, while the leading traffickers often managed to avoid losses by paying bribes and marking their fields with colored flags so corrupt pilots knew to avoid them on defoliation missions. And in the face of indiscriminate violence, peasants fled the mountains in droves, leaving two thousand hamlets in highland areas of the Golden Triangle as ghost towns. Despite a pronounced population growth in other areas of Mexico between 1970 and 1980, municipalities such as Badiraguato saw an overall loss of residents that decade. El Chapo was one of countless serranos who fled the crackdown in the mountains and began living and working in the city, where there was more opportunity and less indiscriminate violence from the authorities.

Mass killings occurred with little investigation from higher authorities, including the deaths of thirteen alleged drug traffickers in a village near the coastal resort city of Mazatlán. Near Badiraguato, in the village of Santiago de los Caballeros, soldiers mowed down ten alleged smugglers and wounded a handful of civilians. In the first year of Operation Condor, civilians filed more than four hundred complaints against anti-drug troops, but like the angry protest by women from La Tuna who complained of the violent raid in 1975, the complaints were mostly ignored or dismissed.

One of the metrics by which Mexico City (and its backers in Washington) measured the success of Condor was the number of individuals locked up on drug charges in the Golden Triangle region, but this too fell hardest on the poor, rather than established drug smugglers. Of the 1,300 prisoners being held at the main jail in Culiacán, 85 percent were poor campesinos or laborers, and the remainder were overwhelmingly urban youngsters, according to a report by the state bar association. Few prisoners, if any, received due process: according to the same report, 90 percent of detentions were carried out illegally, with no warrant or probable cause. But this posed little problem for investigators, who were happy to torture prisoners into confessing to whatever misdeed of which they found themselves accused. Adding insult to insult, and injury to injury, the arresting agents helped themselves to the looted belongings of many arrestees. A few weeks before the report came out, federal police detained the organization’s vice president and tortured him as well.

Operation Condor involved a veritable alphabet soup of law enforcement agencies active in Sinaloa—both military and civilian—all jockeying for supremacy, and who sometimes came into violent conflict with one another. At the beginning of Operation Condor, federal officials with the military, the PJF, and the Federal Security Directorate, or DFS—a secret police agency protecting the interests of the regime—set out to uproot the power of the Judicial Police of Sinaloa, or PJS. Over the course of the operation, the military tortured and disappeared at least seven PJS officers, and at one particularly tense moment, federal troops were prepared to launch a full-frontal assault on PJS headquarters in Culiacán.

By the end of Condor, everything had changed. While the local cops still took bribes and worked on behalf of drug traffickers, they no longer ran the show. The operation wiped many of the old generation of drug traffickers off the map, particularly those who had begun attracting attention from the United States, including Pedro Avilés, whose name came up in scores of DEA investigations, making him a potential embarrassment to the politicos in Mexico City. Avilés and seven of his henchmen died in a hail of gunfire in a northern area of Culiacán, an ambush that looked a lot like a massacre. His death left room for the likes of Miguel Ángel Félix Gallardo—and eventually El Chapo—to rise up in their place. But Culiacán was too hot; they would have to relocate. So Félix Gallardo and countless others pulled up stakes and headed for Guadalajara.



Chronicles of the late 1970s and early 1980s drug trade in Mexico typically fixate on the singular genius of Félix Gallardo, known in later years by his nickname of “El Padrino,” or the Godfather. Born in 1946 on a ranch outside Culiacán, Félix Gallardo got his start in the drug business as a cop with the state Judicial Police. He had the good luck or political favor to end up on the security detail of Leopoldo Sánchez Celis, who served as governor of Sinaloa from 1963 to 1968. Sánchez Celis was widely believed to have close connections with the drug trade in the state, working as an intermediary between his PRI bosses in Mexico and the chosen traffickers he allowed to work in Sinaloa. Félix Gallardo formed such a close bond with his boss that the governor later stood as best man at Félix Gallardo’s wedding, and Félix Gallardo was godfather to the governor’s son. Félix Gallardo undoubtedly learned much during his time protecting Sánchez Celis, and likely made the most of the connections his friendship with the former governor offered.

Félix Gallardo left the PJS sometime in the early 1970s to be a full-time drug trafficker, and worked with Pedro Avilés, which put him in a good position when Avilés outlived his usefulness in 1978. With the federal police now calling the shots, Félix Gallardo was up for a promotion and became one of the go-to intermediaries between traffickers and the government. Everyone kicked up to him, and he made sure they were protected.

The third relationship that helped catapult Félix Gallardo above the shoulders of lesser narcos was an introduction to Juan Ramón Matta Ballesteros, a Honduran businessman and airline owner with close links to both drug traffickers and anti-communist forces in Central America.

It was through Matta that Félix Gallardo first made contact with the leaders of the burgeoning cocaine “cartels” in Colombia, and it was on the Honduran tycoon’s airplanes that he first began to fly cocaine into Mexico before sending it along long-established smuggling routes to the United States on which he had primarily been moving marijuana and heroin.

Above all else, Félix Gallardo recognized the wisdom in keeping his head down while cultivating relationships with the political elite who made his success possible. Obsessed with gadgets, he dropped tens of thousands of dollars at a time on the latest radio equipment, and snapped up properties around Culiacán and Guadalajara, posing as a hotel mogul. He was making astronomical amounts of money and acquiring ranches and homes across Mexico, but he had a stingy side, too, and he jealously guarded his immense personal fortune. Always willing to exploit an opportunity, he once agreed to buy an older cousin’s plot of land outside Culiacán, but spent years stringing her along with promises to pay up.

Along with Félix Gallardo, a clique of up-and-coming Sinaloans set up shop in Guadalajara, the capital of the central state of Jalisco and Mexico’s main financial and banking center outside of Mexico City. His two main collaborators were the thuggish and cunning Ernesto “Don Neto” Fonseca Carrillo, a native of the Badiraguato village of Santiago de los Caballeros who had clawed his way to lead the group’s heroin operations, and Rafael “Rafa” Caro Quintero, of La Noria, Sinaloa, a hotheaded young marijuana grower and scion of a long line of drug traffickers whose flashy lifestyle made up for Félix Gallardo’s modesty. Félix Gallardo, Neto Fonseca, and Caro Quintero have since achieved such fame that they are often considered the undisputed leaders of the Guadalajara network, but countless other traffickers were in the mix as well, allowed to operate as long as they made sure to pay up to Félix Gallardo’s friends in the PJF and the DFS. And among that influx of Sinaloans into Guadalajara and other areas outside of the Golden Triangle was a young El Chapo.



While Félix Gallardo was building an empire on cocaine and making connections with the political and social elite of Guadalajara, El Chapo, then aged about twenty-seven or twenty-eight, headed to Zacatecas, a state located smack-dab in the middle of the country.

In the center of Zacatecas, just north of the state capital, lies Fresnillo, an agricultural town that sits more than a mile above sea level on the altiplano, the high plain that runs down the spine of central Mexico. The area emerged in Spanish colonial times as a center of Mexico’s mining industry, and for centuries workers have dug deep to tap into rich veins of silver and gold, along with other valuable (if a bit less shiny) minerals like lead, zinc, and phosphorite. Mining is still an important industry in the region, but Zacatecas also began to distinguish itself in agriculture, thanks to the lush summers it enjoys, and Fresnillo is surrounded by miles of productive fields, where farmers grow corn, peppers, tomatoes, and other food crops. In the early 1980s, it also became a center of the marijuana trade as traffickers and drug producers streamed out of Sinaloa in the exodus spurred by Operation Condor.

El Chapo arrived in Zacatecas in 1984, accompanied by his longtime friend and collaborator Arturo Beltrán Leyva, as well as a cousin from La Tuna. By this time, a seemingly endless number of loosely connected crews were developing a sprawling network of large-scale marijuana plantations northeast of Fresnillo. There was occasional infighting among the crews—in one instance, the theft of a water pump resulted in bloodshed—but for the most part the growers worked together, developing their farms near one another in difficult-to-reach areas scattered across the plains and paying off the same corrupt cops for the protection they needed to work so brazenly in the open. While some of the farms were owned by local Zacatecan traffickers, the largest operations were directly financed by members of the Sinaloan diaspora, such as Rafa Caro Quintero and Neto Fonseca, and operated by middle managers working on their behalf.

Among the midlevel operators in Zacatecas at this time was a Sinaloan native by the name of Juan José Esparragoza Moreno, whom everyone called “El Azul,” or the Blue One. He hailed from the village of Huixiopa, which lies in the valley leading to El Chapo’s hometown, but El Azul was nearly a decade older than El Chapo and considerably more established by this point, having worked closely with the core leaders of the Guadalajara syndicate since at least the early 1970s.

A few miles north of Fresnillo, El Azul and his crew were developing a 2,000-hectare marijuana farm (about 500 acres), and he was also involved in the heroin trade. It was under his wing that El Chapo and Arturo Beltrán Leyva worked sowing poppies and harvesting opium, the start of a long and fruitful relationship. Over the ensuing decades, both men would continue to work closely with El Azul and other members of the crew.



Marijuana and opium have always been labor-intensive affairs; weed needs room to grow, and poppies must be painstakingly cut open and the sap scraped off. In Zacatecas, this required armies of laborers—often bussed in from Culiacán, two states away—who would remain on-site for the duration of the job. For their work, they earned about 2,000 pesos per day, or about $11.57 in dollars; that might sound like a pittance, but comparable legal work planting and harvesting sugarcane in the area brought in about $3 per day, without food or lodging. For a poor peasant, it was likely an easy choice between sugarcane and marijuana. For producers like El Azul and his bosses, however, it was a huge operating expense.

Cocaine, on the other hand, made for a more streamlined operation. It required fewer workers to manage loads, but not just any hotheaded young serrano could get in the game. It required international contacts, like those that Félix Gallardo maintained through his Honduran pal Matta Ballesteros.

Before cocaine roared back in popularity in the 1970s as a glamorous disco drug, it had remained something of a niche product, particularly in Mexico, where consumption was low and few traffickers moved the stuff in any serious way. From 1960 to 1970, officials in Mexico seized less than 30 kilograms of coke during the entire decade; beginning in 1971, Mexican cops were confiscating more than 100 kilos of coke each year. In 1985, authorities seized more than five tons of coke in Mexico, and by 1989 that amount had tripled. Drug seizures are an imperfect measurement of the scale of the drug trade, but they do tell part of a story; and in Mexico, it was clear: cocaine was here to stay.

Back then, smugglers employed human mules to carry the coke into the United States on commercial airlines. But the market for cocaine soon grew far too large for this relatively rinky-dink method, and traffickers like Carlos Lehder and the Boston-born hippie dope dealer George Jung began shipping it in ever-larger quantities by private plane and boats through the Caribbean, buying up islands like Norman’s Cay in the Bahamas as latter-day pirate bays to store the drugs before the final leg of the journey. As the DEA cracked down on the route through the Caribbean, the Colombians looked to Mexico as an alternative.

The smugglers in Colombia needed to move coke, and in Mexican traffickers, they found willing partners with well-established smuggling routes. This pattern became known as the Mexican “trampoline,” as bricks of coke flew in from Colombia, landed in Mexico, and, with a great and satisfying boing, continued on to the United States. For producers, traffickers, and street dealers, coke just made sense. Without the headache of growing seasons, irrigation, and land that went along with weed and opium, trafficking cocaine was a simple matter of shipping. As a bonus, traffickers and dealers could cut it as much as they wanted with laxatives, lactose powder, or whatever else stretched one brick of coke into two or three. By the time it reached the streets of Chicago or New York, a kilo that fetched $3,000 in Colombia, sold for $10,000 in Mexico, and went wholesale in the states for $30,000 could easily earn retail sellers as much as $100,000, justifying the risk they took by selling on the street at high volume in small quantities. At first, the Mexicans were glorified—and very well paid—couriers for the Colombians. The margins for coke were astonishing: without even having to lift a finger cultivating a field on a hilltop miles from any paved road, Mexican traffickers could make exponentially more money than they had in the past simply by moving it from one destination to the other.



DEA agents based in local branches in Guadalajara and elsewhere were sounding the alarm about the growing power of drug traffickers, but for years, Washington didn’t want to hear about it. As far as they were concerned, Operation Condor had been a success; it had indeed led to a drop in drug production in Sinaloa, and a corresponding plunge in the purity of Mexican heroin in the United States, despite growing evidence that production zones had simply moved outside the Golden Triangle. To have said otherwise would have been to contradict Mexican officials at a time that diplomatic tranquility and the ongoing fight against left-wing agitation was a higher priority to Washington than the warnings of a few DEA cowboys in a provincial office in Mexico. Much of this realpolitik was based on whom Félix Gallardo had chosen as his benefactors.

The main source of political protection for the traffickers in Guadalajara came from the Federal Security Directorate, or DFS, a shadowy secret police force that acted as the enforcement arm of the regime, murdering left-wing students and disappearing agitators. Unlike the PJF, which despite its corruption was still a bona fide police force, the DFS existed to ensure the political stability of the PRI government. Its criminal activities were an open secret, according to a former DEA agent who worked in Mexico at that time.

“[The DFS] became involved in drug trafficking, murder, stealing properties where they would go onto a ranch and just kick people out,” the former agent said, speaking on condition of anonymity. “It became nothing more than a criminal organization, without question.”

As the DFS became more involved in the drug trade, its ranks swelled with thuggish crooks looking to get rich. Beginning in 1977, the agency expanded exponentially, from just under 500 agents in 1977 to more than 3,000 agents in 1984. Droves of those new recruits came from the PJF, perhaps seeing in the DFS an opportunity to commit more fully to lucrative criminal pursuits without the pesky police duties required by their previous jobs. While corrupt PJF agents continued to provide cover for drug trafficking, it was the DFS that took the lead in offering political protection.

Just as Félix Gallardo and pals benefited from their ties to the DFS, the DFS also had its own friends in high places, including the Central Intelligence Agency. Despite its clear involvement in criminal pursuits, the DFS and its drug-trafficking assets were useful to American interests in the region, keeping tabs on leftists and potential Soviet activities in Mexico, and helping to funnel arms to right-wing forces in Central America. It was just a few years since left-wing rebels had toppled the U.S.-backed regime in Nicaragua, and many of the people who ran Guadalajara seemed to be involved in the U.S. effort to fund and arm the right-wing Contra rebels trying to overthrow the Sandinistas there. Matta Ballesteros’s SETCO airline was a veritable Contra Airways, ferrying arms and other supplies from airstrips in Honduras to encampments on the border with Nicaragua; Félix Gallardo was described as a “big supporter” of the Contras and made hefty monetary donations to the cause; Neto Fonseca was seen in the company of CIA pilots active in shady pro-Contra flights of arms and cocaine; and the CIA saw the DFS as so essential to its interests in Central America that it actively protected DFS leaders from scrutiny, even when they popped up on the radar of U.S. law enforcement agencies.

It might seem a paradox for one arm of U.S. foreign policy, like the CIA or the State Department, to engage in activities in direct opposition to the activities of another, like the DEA. But from its origins in the wake of World War II, the CIA and its backers in Washington have repeatedly turned a blind eye to the drug-smuggling activities of local players in geopolitical hot spots who, at one time or another, served as a bulwark against the spread of communism. Sometimes, the CIA even played a direct role in drug trafficking, most notably during the events that became known as the Iran-Contra scandal. As far as I (and many others) can tell, there is no evidence to suggest that the CIA was actively trafficking drugs with Félix Gallardo and his allies during this era; but they undoubtedly were working with people who protected the traffickers, and this undoubtedly made it next to impossible for the DEA and honest Mexican cops to muster the political will required to arrest them. To the delight of the drug traffickers in Guadalajara, and to the frustration of the DEA agents pursuing them, it was clear that Washington’s priorities lay in the Cold War, not the drug war.



Guadalajara, meanwhile, was becoming transformed by its status as the headquarters of one of the most lucrative financial engines in the country. Cocaine money served as a foundation for construction projects, restaurants, and other businesses that began to restore some of the glamour Guadalajara had lost in the decades after the revolution. Félix Gallardo was a shareholder of the state-owned investment bank SOMEX, and despite his desire to keep a low profile, he had begun appearing in the society pages, hobnobbing with the wealthy elite of Guadalajara at weddings and baptisms. As he rose in stature, an audience with him became highly sought after. At a rotating series of headquarters, located around Guadalajara, he would receive a steady stream of visitors and petitioners, who sometimes crammed into waiting rooms and sat about for hours until it was their turn to speak with the boss.

The traffickers had the run of the city, sometimes carrying military-grade weapons in public despite Mexico’s strict gun laws. They had the complete backing of the DFS, whose agents would escort them while transporting drugs, and they were paying regular bribes to the local branch of the PJF, including an agent who kept a lion cub in a motel bathroom and on occasion could be seen conversing with Félix Gallardo in the open.

Even the few cops foolish enough, brave enough, or honest enough to stand up to an AK-toting thug in this town would be sure to slink away in the face of a DFS badge, which gave its bearer the de jure ability to carry automatic weapons and the de facto ability to do whatever the fuck he wanted with them. It was a license to traffic drugs, as sure a sign as any that the guy holding the tin plate had the backing of big money, the backing of big men, and the backing of the state.

Félix Gallardo and his partners were linked so closely with state and federal cops in Guadalajara that it was sometimes difficult to tell where the line between traffickers and cops was, or if there was a line at all, according to Lawrence Victor Harrison, a gringo living in Guadalajara at the time. Harrison had drifted down to Mexico after auditing a few university classes at the University of California, Berkeley, in the late sixties, and early seventies and eventually settled in Guadalajara. Standing over six feet tall, he stuck out there, earning himself the nickname “Torre Blanco,” or White Tower, but he liked Mexico, and never really left. A keen hobbyist (and alleged CIA agent), Harrison loved tinkering with radio equipment and electronics, and by 1981 he’d found work setting up communications equipment for state cops and a local DFS commander. It was through his DFS contacts that he met Neto Fonseca, who hired him to set up a security system and a high-frequency radio network. For about four months in late 1983 and early 1984, Harrison lived at one of Neto Fonseca’s homes in Guadalajara, where he observed the large entourage of local cops and federal agents on his payroll who hung about, and saw Don Neto’s relationship with all sorts of unsavory characters, including American pilots who claimed to be trafficking weapons and cocaine on behalf of the right-wing Contra rebels in Nicaragua.

Like Neto Fonseca, Félix Gallardo, and countless other traffickers, Harrison was able to travel freely with DFS credentials, and later told DEA agents that he and Neto Fonseca’s DFS pals helped escort shipments of drugs, blowing through police roadblocks on the highway with the flash of a badge. Sometimes, he said, Neto and his associates would snort lines of cocaine off the badges, in lieu of a mirror.

They were all doing a lot of cocaine.

While Félix Gallardo was projecting the image of a successful young CEO, his partners were having a bit more fun. Rafa Caro Quintero spent much of his time in Chihuahua and Sonora, where he had teams of engineers and agronomists designing sophisticated irrigation systems that allowed multi-acre marijuana plantations to sprout up from the desert, capable of churning out untold tons of marijuana per year. On visits to Guadalajara, where he purchased a twenty-five-acre estate on the outskirts with $4 million in cash, Caro Quintero lived the wild life of an untouchable young prince. Neto Fonseca, meanwhile, was running his operation out of a villa in Guadalajara that on most days was teeming with a large retinue of bodyguards and various hangers-on, a group that typically included a handful of DFS agents; some men from another arm of PRI’s secret police known as the Department of Political and Social Investigations, or IPS; and a rotating cast of PJF agents, state judicial cops, and soldiers.

In his time working for Neto Fonseca, Harrison got a firsthand glimpse of the gang’s inner workings, occasionally accompanying Neto’s gunmen on missions to escort convoys of trucks. He also began to see some internal divisions, resulting from the differences in style between the buttoned-up Félix Gallardo and his more rough-and-tumble partners.

“Mr. Félix Gallardo told me that both Mr. Fonseca and Mr. Caro were too wild, that they were attracting too much attention,” Harrison said later. “Though he had to continue business with them, that he didn’t want to be around them any longer because they were too rowdy.”

Félix Gallardo had a vision, and the cowboy antics of his pals were quickly becoming a liability, risking attention from the United States and upsetting the careful balance required to maintain a relationship with corrupt soldiers and agents of the PJF and DFS. In one instance, an informant told the DEA that a brother-in-law of Caro Quintero had pistol-whipped an army captain in charge of protecting a smuggling route in Sonora; the captain retaliated by setting up roadblocks in the area and seizing thirty tons of marijuana belonging to Caro Quintero. Despite the deference that their DFS badges earned them, and despite all the money they were pouring into the pockets of cops, military officers, and politicians, Félix Gallardo and the others were about to learn that their protection had its limits.



On the afternoon of February 7, 1985, a group of pistoleros unwittingly set in motion a series of events that would result in the downfall of Don Neto, Caro Quintero, and Félix Gallardo, reshape the drug trade, and eventually make room for El Chapo and others of his generation to take charge. Just as Félix Gallardo had feared, the out-of-control violence of his partners was about to ruin everything they had worked for when they came for DEA Special Agent Enrique “Kiki” Camarena.

Kiki Camarena, a Mexican-born American citizen and former marine, had arrived in Guadalajara in 1980, volunteering for a foreign posting after three years on the border in Calexico and another four making bust after bust in the dusty barrios and farm towns of California’s Central Valley. Camarena had a charming smile that belied the crusader’s zeal with which he waged his drug war, a mission informed by seeing friends succumb to heroin overdoses in his youth in California. Mike Vigil, a DEA agent stationed in Hermosillo in the early 1980s, had met Camarena when both were stationed on the border, and later worked some investigations with him when both were working in Mexico.

“He had a great sense of humor, he was very athletically built, and he got along with everybody,” Vigil recalled. “I don’t think anybody had a bad thing to say about him.”

Camarena had put in for a transfer because he was sick of petty busts, sick of putting one guy in jail and seeing him replaced the next day, of seizing a few pounds of weed and never putting a dent in the supply. Many DEA agents working abroad had a similar scorn for drug interdiction on U.S. soil, and like them, Camarena wanted to attack drugs at the source. Since his arrival in Guadalajara, Camarena and his fellow agents began trying to piece together an idea of what Félix Gallardo and his cronies were up to, according to journalist Elaine Shannon, whose book on Camarena remains the definitive account of his time in Mexico. Camarena was a regular visitor to the local office of the Federal Judicial Police, or PJF, where he’d consult with the agents, track down leads, and try to cultivate sources.

He and the other DEA agents in Guadalajara had followed the money, tracing checks from the United States to Peru, trying to get a picture of how much cash might be flowing through Félix Gallardo’s coffers; they harangued Mexican officials to hand over account numbers, and tracked a paper trail stretching from San Diego to Guadalajara to Lima, eventually forming a portrait of a vast money-laundering scheme. According to the picture they had put together, money mules on the West Coast were packing cash into trucks in California and driving it to Guadalajara, where Félix Gallardo’s pencil pushers would deposit the money before wiring it back to a Bank of America branch located in San Diego. Then, the kingpin’s money guy in California would withdraw the drug proceeds as cashier checks that he’d send to coke producers in South America as payment. In one month, the investigation showed, as much as $20 million had moved through Félix Gallardo’s bank accounts.

And that was just the money that DEA agents had managed to track; the real figure was likely far higher. A cousin of Félix Gallardo who in the early 1980s helped his relative manage stash houses in California and who later ferried drug proceeds from Los Ángeles to Guadalajara in a motor home stuffed to the gills with cash estimated that he personally delivered $150 million in cash over an eight-month period from July 1984 to February 1985.



Camarena and the other agents had begun to believe that the official story from Mexican officials of continued drug-eradication flights was a smoke screen. DEA agents had briefly been allowed to monitor these efforts at the beginning of Operation Condor, but in 1978 the Mexican government revoked access, and the DEA now had to rely on the good word of Mexican antinarcotics agents to confirm that planes were still crop-dusting the marijuana and poppy fields of the Golden Triangle. As Camarena and the other agents in Guadalajara gathered more and more evidence of large-scale cultivation of marijuana—and saw with their own eyes DFS men escorting suspected drug shipments—they were less and less inclined to trust that good word. So Camarena had struck out on his own, conducting undercover investigations and posing as a drug trafficker to try to lure Mexico-based smugglers into selling heroin to agents in Texas. And working with a Mexican pilot named Alfredo Zavala, he had managed to locate massive marijuana plantations growing in the desert. One such plantation that Camarena is often —but perhaps erroneously—credited with discovering was an operation in Chihuahua known as Rancho Búfalo. The field belonged to Caro Quintero, and it was a sprawling operation, covering nearly 2,500 acres, employing hundreds of workers, and capable of producing astronomical amounts of weed. When Mexican troops raided it and a handful of other ranches in November 1984, they captured and destroyed more than 10,000 tons of marijuana in the process. Government agencies in the United States had previously estimated that about 14,000 tons of marijuana were consumed nationwide each year, and the seizure in Chihuahua was so immense that it “throws all those numbers askew,” and prompted stunned officials to wonder out loud if they had been seriously underestimating all along the amount of weed being smoked. The destruction of Rancho Búfalo—which was later estimated to be worth as much as $8 billion—was a serious blow, but Camarena and his DEA colleagues weren’t done causing problems for Félix Gallardo and his powerful cronies. Camarena wanted to follow the money further.

But on February 7, 1985, he vanished.



Once Camarena’s fellow DEA agents realized he’d been taken, they leapt into action, desperately scouring Jalisco for the missing agent as DEA men poured into the city from near and far to help with the search. While his comrades were buzzing about the city in search of him, Camarena was being held at a home in the Jardines del Bosque section of Guadalajara, alongside his pilot Alfredo Zavala, whom the hit men had also abducted. With both men in their custody, the captors began to torture them in an attempt to get whatever information they could out of them. The interrogator, later identified as an agent of the IPS, a sister agency to the DFS, took a particular interest in Camarena’s investigations into Félix Gallardo and the corrupt cops on his payroll. Camarena told them what he knew. Begging for mercy, he remained respectful. He called his tormentor “comandante.” At times, the interrogators paused to beat Camarena, ignoring his cries. The torture lasted for three days before someone finally caved his skull in with a pipe or tire iron.



Weeks after the kidnapping, officials announced they had issued warrants for the arrest of “six or seven” people suspected of having a role in Camarena’s disappearance, including two state cops who helped hustle him into the car that day. But there was still no trace of Camarena or Zavala.

Finally, on March 7, one month after Camarena and his pilot disappeared, investigators found two badly decomposing bodies wrapped in plastic, lying in a ditch on a ranch southeast of Guadalajara. The bodies, which appeared to have been left in that spot recently, were “truly unrecognizable,” according to one Mexican official, but their identities were confirmed when one of the bodies matched Camarena’s fingerprints on file. It took an autopsy and Camarena’s fingerprints to confirm that the bodies were those of Camarena and Zavala.



The murder of Camarena turned him into a martyr for the DEA, part of the agency’s foundational mythology, and helped legitimize the DEA as a serious agency deserving of the respect given to other federal law enforcement branches. Over the years, the story took on a life of its own; it holds center stage in the fictionalized Netflix series Narcos: Mexico, and has been the subject of several books. But for decades, controversy has lingered over the motive behind the plot. According to the official narrative, Caro Quintero ordered Camarena’s abduction as revenge for the agent’s supposed role in the destruction of Rancho Búfalo; but for years, dark rumors have swirled around the case, accusations that CIA agents had some role in the murder of the hardheaded young DEA agent when he got too close to the links between Mexican drug traffickers and the CIA’s efforts to fund the Contras in Nicaragua. This theory, based in part on accusations by former DEA agents, was whispered widely enough to be turned into a narcocorrido, and has remained an open question. In 2019, it emerged that the Justice Department had opened a new investigation into the allegations, but as of this writing, it remains unclear what role, if any, the traffickers’ connections to the CIA had in the murder of Camarena.



Whatever spurred the murder of Camarena, the fallout was immediate and furious, an unmitigated disaster for the future that Félix Gallardo and his pals in Mexico City had envisioned for a centrally controlled monopoly of the drug trade. By early April 1985, both Caro Quintero and Neto Fonseca were in handcuffs. When police in the Pacific Coast resort town of Puerto Vallarta swept onto the property of a nearby town’s security chief, they found Neto Fonseca hunkered down with a small army of henchmen, including current and former agents of the PJF and DFS, further underscoring the agency’s ties to the cartel. As for Caro Quintero, he was arrested in a luxurious mansion in Costa Rica, where he’d shacked up with the daughter of a PRIista power broker. Over the next seven years, U.S. prosecutors would charge numerous suspects with taking part in the conspiracy to kidnap and murder Camarena, including multiple PJF agents, the brother-in-law of a former Mexican president, and the doctor who kept Camarena conscious during the interrogation. Witnesses at the trials testified that they had seen high-ranking Mexican politicians and military officials in a room with Félix Gallardo, Neto Fonseca, and Caro Quintero to plan the murder, although some critics have questioned the validity of the testimony, and convictions against two of the plotters (including Matta Ballesteros) were later tossed out.

After just a few years of being Mexico City’s chosen traffickers, the Guadalajara network as it had existed was finished. Under pressure from the United States, President Miguel de la Madrid initiated a purge of the DFS before shuttering the agency and rebranding it as the Center for Investigation and National Security, or CISEN. The days of open involvement in drug trafficking by PRI spooks appeared to be over, but on the ground there wasn’t much difference. Perhaps some drug traffickers would be forced to turn in their DFS badges for CISEN badges, or exchange them for PJF shields.

Miguel Ángel Félix Gallardo did not go to jail just yet. Of the three leaders of Guadalajara, he had always been the one with the political connections, with the backing of the PRI elite, the connections with Colombia, and it appeared he was still useful to somebody. Neto Fonseca with his heroin, Rafa Caro Quintero with his weed: they were disposable, they represented the old days. Cocaine was the future.



After the arrest of his two partners, Félix Gallardo went underground, fleeing his stronghold of Guadalajara for some seaside solitude in the Sinaloa resort town of Mazatlán. He found a refuge there, amid the beaches, cevicherías, and banda music, protected by local police in exchange for using his status and muscle to control local criminals and “discourage” them from committing robberies, car thefts, and other crimes that might scare off tourists or draw federal attention.

But eventually, even Félix Gallardo outlived his usefulness to his protectors. In the United States, where the Reagan administration’s so-called war on drugs was already a front-page story thanks to the rising tide of crack cocaine flooding the streets and the ensuing hysteria over crime supposedly driven by crack users, the furor of the death of a federal agent helped push that effort to a fever pitch. In 1986, the U.S. Congress passed legislation that would add a new weapon to Washington’s arsenal in its drive to force countries like Mexico to align with U.S. anti-drug policy. Under the new law, any country that failed to be “certified” as taking an active role in combating the production and transport of drugs in or through its territory would be cut off from any foreign aid. If Mexico wanted to continue receiving help from the United States in the form of military equipment and economic aid packages, it would have to prove it was dealing with drug traffickers. Despite being in power during the years in which the DFS and PFJ were rising to new heights of power and corruption, President de la Madrid was learning how to speak Washington’s language: in 1987, he was the first Mexican president to label organized crime a national security threat, a Very Serious Term that indefinitely justifies heightened security measures, and allows for little dissent.

In 1988, in an election widely viewed as fraudulent, the chosen PRIista successor Carlos Salinas de Gortari squeaked to victory, barely beating out a left-wing challenger. Among Salinas’s chief concerns was ensuring that Mexico anti-drug efforts be “certified” by the United States. In one of the first initiatives of his sexenio, Salinas pushed through judicial reforms that mandated a fifteen-year minimum sentence for drug trafficking. He also gave word to top PJF agents that the capture of Félix Gallardo was now a priority. Who better to serve up on a platter than Félix Gallardo, the highest-ranking narco connected to the Camarena killing still on the loose?

On April 8, 1989, federal cops strolled into the mansion in Guadalajara where Félix Gallardo was lying low. Without firing a shot, they forced him to the ground at gunpoint and took him into custody, ignoring his attempted bribes and his threats.

That evening, in a coordinated sweep, the military arrested more than six hundred members of the Sinaloa State Judicial Police and the Culiacán municipal police force for allegedly colluding with drug traffickers. Among those arrested were nine high-ranking law enforcement officials in Sinaloa and several other areas across Mexico accused of accepting thousands of dollars a month in protection money from Félix Gallardo.

At a preliminary hearing a few days later in Mexico City, Félix Gallardo denied any ties to the drug trade, insisting that he was nothing but the owner of a couple of hotels in Guadalajara. An initial tally of the humble hotelier’s assets seized by the government included three jets, a Thoroughbred horse stable, a handful of condo buildings, ranches, hotels, and stores in Culiacán and Guadalajara, a discotheque, and a collection of more than fifty luxury cars.

Félix Gallardo, like his partners arrested four years prior, was now sitting in prison, charged with bribery and drug trafficking and soon to be charged with the murder of Camarena, for which he would ultimately be convicted and sentenced to decades in prison. He spent the next thirty-three years in prison, as the drug trade kept chugging on without him.

The emerging leaders of the new order divvied up their responsibilities over new territory. Anyone trafficking drugs through those areas would have to pay the plaza bosses in order to benefit from their protection agreements with local, state, and federal cops. In Tijuana, the brood of brothers named Arellano Félix assumed command; and in Ciudad Juárez, Amado Carrillo Fuentes—the nephew of Neto Fonseca nicknamed “the Lord of the Skies”—consolidated control.

And in Sinaloa and along a swath of the border with Arizona, El Chapo, Ismael “El Mayo” Zambada, the brothers Beltrán Leyva, and other allies held sway. This corridor was considerably less lucrative than the huge border crossings in Juárez and Tijuana. But El Chapo always had a way of making do with what he had.
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